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CHAIRMAN’S
MESSAGE

President
Business Mauritius

Dear fellow members of Business Mauritius,

This last year, we faced numerous waves of unprecedented 
disruption and, as a result, my first year of chairmanship of Business 
Mauritius has been everything but a smooth ride. However, it would 
have been an impossible one without the energetic support of fellow 
board members, of our CEO, of everyone in the Business Mauritius 
team, and of you all, dear members. Please accept my sincere and 
heartfelt thanks for your continued trust and unflinching support.
 
Right now, business confidence is at one of its lowest point 
worldwide. In Mauritius, we faced the pandemic, the lockdown, 
the fear and the losses linked to it. But we also faced the Wakashio 
tragedy with its environmental, economic, social and reputational 
impacts. The business community also faced the increased financial 
and organisational complexity of new labour rules, changes in fiscal 
policies and in retirement funds, and, to top it all, the EU blacklisting.
 
In the last six months, our economic sectors and companies have 
been impacted in very different ways. The more or less 25% of 
our economic players who are involved directly or indirectly with 
tourism are facing disastrous circumstances. For the other 75%, 
some companies are still achieving good results, and others are 
teetering on the verge of bankruptcy. Most of us are somewhere 
in between.

AS WINSTON CHURCHILL SAID “NEVER LET A 
GOOD CRISIS GO TO WASTE”. WE HAVE TO USE 
THIS TIME AS A CATALYST TO RETHINK THE 
WAY WE DO BUSINESS.

Regardless of the context, given the speed at which this crisis has 
been unfolding and the great acceleration of trends accompanying 
it, businesses need to be faster, bolder, and more agile than ever 
before to overcome and succeed. 

Many in the local business community are already showing amazing 
resilience and unprecedented solidarity. Companies that are 
both risk agile and risk resilient are paving the way to show us 
that we can win in this unpredictable environment. Investment 
in technology and innovation are giving some companies a solid 
competitive advantage. Every day, many of us are getting better 
at  risk management, at finding new and more adapted business 
models, at refreshing our supply chains, and at adopting better 
practices and new technologies.
 
Business Mauritius is fully committed to supporting the business 
community by seeking new partnerships, as well optimising training 
and synergy opportunities.
 

Over and above what business can do to reinvent itself, the real 
game changer during these times is to understand the importance 
of establishing a regular, structured, inclusive and constructive 
dialogue with the authorities and other economic and social 
stakeholders. This is crucial to work through bottlenecks, find 
solutions and create opportunities. Without it, we simply will not 
succeed. The transformation of our economy must leverage on 
uniting energies to rethink our strategy and establish a more 
resilient business roadmap.  
 
We have therefore multiplied requests and opportunities for 
increased collaboration and dialogue with the relevant stakeholders.  
Even more than before, it is together that we must think of reforms, 
of improved governance and of the urgent yet structured opening 
of our economy.  

One of the priorities of this dialogue has indeed been to ensure 
that we urgently advance in the path of the balancing act which 
will involve a staged reopening of the economy while controlling 
the virus spread within the capacity of our healthcare system. This 
path means saving jobs and livelihoods which are essential for social 
peace, while imposing strict virus-control measures.  

According to McKinsey, the Covid-19 crisis has created the highest 
level of uncertainty worldwide in 35 years. Post Covid lockdown, 
Mauritius also faced other shockwaves which other countries 
didn’t experience. 

Through it all, we, at Business Mauritius, remain more than ever 
convinced that it is only with more engagement between all social 
and economic partners that we will be able to harness this collective 
energy which we have seen in action these past months, and 
transform it into the changes that our society needs today. At 
other times of our history, this is how we overcame crisis.  An 
open and honest dialogue will bring about shared solutions, and, 
as highlighted by the business community in the National Business 
Roadmap, strengthened governance which all Mauritians are also 
yearning for.
 
I have faith in my country, in my fellow citizens and in the members 
of the business community. And I can promise you that Business 
Mauritius is ready to accompany its members on this road towards 
a renewed, prosperous and more inclusive Mauritius.

Vidia Mooneegan
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Chief Executive
Business Mauritius

Dear friends,

2020 has unfolded into a crisis of unprecedented nature. As a 
nation, we have gone through the unthinkable in the name of the 
COVID-19 global pandemic, followed by the Wakashio oil spill tragedy. 
In addition to these predicaments, our business community has 
suffered from the consequences of the EU blacklisting and of the 
repercussions of the new fiscal and labour market policies.
 
The sanitary response to the pandemic has been exemplary. 
Government, civil society and the business community pulled 
together with a common objective of making Mauritius COVID-
safe. With your support and collaboration, the Business Mauritius 
COVID-19 Response -  through dedicated committees on health, 
food and essential supplies, and solidarity among others – and our 
partner members were able to provide support to the community 
and to the authorities.
 
Nevertheless, the pandemic is still causing havoc everywhere in the 
world, threatening the balance of even the strongest economies 
whose struggles continue to impact us on many levels. The same 
caution of an unparalleled and profound effect of the coronavirus 
pandemic on world economies is echoed by international agencies 
such as the World Bank, the IMF and the European Central Bank 
for the euro area.
 
Our economy, which has been at a standstill during the lockdown 
from March to end of May, is seeing signs of modest recovery in 
some sectors. The IMF, in its latest forecast, expects the Mauritian 
economy to contract by 12.2% in 2020 before rebounding by 8.9% 
next year. Our understanding is that the first quarter of 2021 
would continue to present accrued challenges, due to the situation 
in our key markets and, to some extent also, on the timing of the 
full reopening of our borders which matter for various economic 
activities such as tourism, business travel, professional and technical 
activities and the real estate sector, to name a few.
 
In the last months, we have witnessed the introduction of policies 
and laws that have challenged our expectations. These have led 
to critical exchanges with policy makers, which, on several topics, 
are still ongoing. They all pertain to the same objective: develop a 
common strategy for the Mauritian economy in the new parameters 
inherited from the pandemic. Fiscal and labour policies, as well as 
international compliance and governance structures, are part of 
these conversations.
 
Post-lockdown, this dialogue has also led to policies to support 
distressed businesses. The Wage Assistance Support (WAS), which 
is currently prolonged for the tourism sector, has helped many of 
our members retain valuable employees in a bewildering situation 
of near-zero revenue for several months. Other instruments have 
been introduced through entities like the Bank of Mauritius, the 
Development Bank of Mauritius, the State Investment Corporation 
Limited (SIC), ISP Ltd and the newly created Mauritius Investment 
Corporation (MIC). For these instruments, Business Mauritius is 
advocating for an acceleration of the disbursements and facilitation 
of the process, particularly for our SME members and mid-sized 
enterprises, so that businesses can sustain their strategies for the 
prevailing contraction and forge new business models.
 

The current crisis also brings out new opportunities with rewards 
for the businesses that are agile and ready to adapt. New mega-
trends such as work from home, near-shoring and on-shoring of 
both manufactured products and services, new technologies such 
as AI to assist in managing increasingly complex decision-making 
processes, the rising importance of the African market for our 
businesses as well as gender mainstreaming and aspirations of 
the new generation for greater freedom and purpose in their work 
will need to be addressed in the business community’s strategy 
for sustainable and inclusive growth.

As we start a new financial year, the Business Mauritius action 
plan includes our engagement to tackle these subjects through 
dedicated projects. Building on the National Business Roadmap, we 
will continue to engage on governance, education, maximising our 
natural resources and dealing with the risks of our environmental 
vulnerabilities. We will enhance the sustainability and inclusive growth 
agenda among our members through the Sustainability Pact. We will 
develop a Code of People Practices to better guide our employee 
relationship. We will further strive to develop greater collaboration 
and business opportunities between members while engaging with 
the authorities for a common strategy for the Mauritian economy 
in a post-COVID era.
 
Some of the past recipes are immutable – greater ease of doing 
business, global competitiveness, openness, predictability in our 
laws and minimising unintended consequences of policies. The 
dialogue that has brought results on these subjects should be 
strengthened. Particularly, the business process re-engineering and 
national e-licensing system being put in place by the authorities 
have started to transform the permit delivery system. Another 
valuable project promoting dialogue is the Regulatory Impact 
Assessment project that would provide a framework for our country 
to develop a systemic approach to the impact of new legislation 
on the economy. Business Mauritius is part of the core group that 
is working on this OECD-driven project.
 
The importance of a sustained public private dialogue and business 
community coordination is amplified in times of crisis. Business 
Mauritius will continue engaging with the authorities on matters 
of relevance to the business community in the spirit of national 
collaboration and sustainable, inclusive growth.

Let me conclude by extending my heartfelt appreciation to the 
Council of Business Mauritius and in particular to the Council 
President for his trust, leadership and support during these 
demanding times. The Business Mauritius team and BM partners 
have also been extraordinary in rising to the challenges of the 
day and the opportunity is also taken here to thank them for their 
unwavering support. As the voice of the business community, 
Business Mauritius is an incredible vehicle for shaping and promoting 
projects which ultimately serve the national interest. It is with 
humility and gratitude that I thank you for this opportunity to be 
the driver of this common purpose.
 
Yours sincerely,

Kevin Ramkaloan

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S
MESSAGE
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OVERVIEW OF
BUSINESS MAURITIUS

MEMBERSHIP

BUSINESS MAURITIUS is an independent association, regrouping 
approximately 1200 members, that focuses on the three pillars 
of sustainable development —economic, social and environmental. 
The association aims to be the unifying platform for integration 
and action on sustainable development for the country. Business 
Mauritius’ main objective is to be the voice of Mauritian private 
companies, while delivering services that sustain the progress of 
both businesses and local communities and the Nation as a whole.

Business Mauritius remains focused on three strategic objectives:

 Engage business in the National Economic Development

  Champion the development of all strong Social Capital 
through Business

 Promote Sustainability and Inclusive Growth for business

It offers a unique and symbiotic platform for three distinct but 
inter-related commissions – National Economic Development, 
Social Capital and Sustainability and Inclusive Growth.

The main goal of each commission is to establish a global vision for 
the future development of the country where issues are identified 
and recommendations are formulated for local businesses or on 
a national level.

Business Mauritius brings together all its members involved in 
achieving sustainable development, while fuelling broader awareness 
and actions by sharing its own extensive knowledge and issue 
expertise. Business Mauritius also proposes policy reviews and 
pilot projects for the business community.

ENGAGE BUSINESS IN THE NATIONAL ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT

In the light of the evolution and growing complexity of our economic 
development, it is vital for Business Mauritius, in its dialogue process, 
to be better prepared in order to offer a clearer understanding 
of the economic development issues and their impact on our 
society, while encouraging the business community to implement 
proposed changes.

CHAMPION THE DEVELOPMENT OF A STRONG SOCIAL CAPITAL 
THROUGH BUSINESS

The business sector contributes to around 80% of total employment 
in Mauritius and therefore enterprises play a key role in the Mauritian 
social fabric. Many of those companies are reengineering to meet 
new challenges in social capital development and repositioning their 
roles and engagement vis-à-vis the community.

As at 30th June 2020, Business Mauritius has 1175 members. These members are active across all sectors of the economy

Approximately 59% of Business Mauritius’ members come from four economic activities, namely:

PROMOTE SUSTAINABILITY AND INCLUSIVE GROWTH FOR 
BUSINESS

Two of the major global challenges facing the modern society are 
the environmental degradation and growing inequality in almost all 
economic development models. These challenges are no more seen 
as the responsibility of only Governments and civil society; business 
can and must play an important role to mitigate those issues.

BUSINESS MAURITIUS NATIONAL BUSINESS ROADMAP

The Council members, Operational team and three Commissions 
of Business Mauritius worked for over two years towards the 
elaboration of a National Business Roadmap, a strategic plan for 
the local business community, that was launched in 2019.  Through 
in-depth and broad consultations, the most recurrent inhibitors 
to business were identified and a constraint lifting and innovative 
roadmap was chalked out. 
 
The Business Mauritius National Business Roadmap:

• identified 13 Binding Constraints for businesses; 
•  selected the four pillars upon which the growth dynamics is most 

likely to rely; 
•  determined the most useful and proactive enablers and 

recommendations. 
 
Therefore, following a validation and prioritisation process with 
representatives of BM members, four urgent binding constraints 
were identified as the present main growth disincentives. 
 
They were: 

 Natural Resources;

 Human Capital; 

 Governance and 

 Environmental Vulnerability.

 
The NBR launched in 2019 was carried forward during this financial 
year.

Sector of Activity Number of Members

Professional, Scientific and Technical Activities 226 

Wholesale and Retail Trade 198 

Manufacturing 164 

Information and Communication 104 

Financing and Insurance Activities 77

Accommodation and Food Service Activities 71

Education 46

Administrative and Support Service Activities 62

Agriculture, Forestry and Fishing 36

Transportation and Storage 33

Construction 37

Arts, Entertainment and Recreation 29

Human Health and Social Work Activities 26

Real Estate 24

Electricity, Gas, Water and Waste Management 17

Other Service Activities 14

Sectoral and National Organisations 11

Total 1175

Membership by Turnover(RsM) Number of Members

0-50 477 

51-99 380 

100 and Above 318 

Professional, Scientific
and Technical Activities

Wholesale and Retail Trade Manufacturing Information and Communication
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ORGANISATION
STRUCTURE

15 6

COUNCIL
MEMBERS

Business Mauritius comprises of permanent and on contract staff. As at 30 June 2020, the organizational structure of Business 
Mauritius consists of:

Chief Executive Officer

Chief Operating Officer

Administrative Secretaries

Head Social Capital

Industrial Relations Officer

Skills Development Administrator

Training Coordinator

Administrative Assistant

Business Development Officer

Communications Officer

Economics Analyst

Office Attendants

Clerk

Industrial Relations Consultant

Head Collaborative Economic Development

Project Manager

Head Sustainability and Inclusive Growth & SUNREF 

Technical Assistance

Project Manager SUNREF

Administrative Assistant SUNREF

Permanent Staff On Contract Staff

Business Mauritius is governed by a Council of 17 Members: 6 elected members, 9 partner members and
2 co-opted members. The 17 Council Members represent the main sectors of the Mauritian Economy.

CEOs of partner members have been in attendance at the Council meetings.

Two special Council meetings were also held during the financial year 2019-2020 notably on 26 March 2020 and 5 June 2020.

R* Representative

Name Organisation Status 31
Jul 19

14
Oct 19

12
Dec 19

20
Feb 20

23
Apr 20

25
June 20

Jean Michel Pitot AHRIM Partner Member √

Yannis Fayd’herbe AMM Partner Member √ √

Nicolas Pougnet BACECA Partner Member √ √ REP √ √

Bertrand Casteres IAM Partner Member √ √ √

Alain Law Min MBA Partner Member √ √

Sebastien Lavoipierre MCA Partner Member

Guillaume Hugnin MCCI Partner Member √ √ √ √ √ √

Patrice Robert MEXA Partner Member √ √

Roshan Seetohul OTAM Partner Member √ REP √ √ √

Vidia Mooneegan Ceridian (Mauritius) Ltd Elected Member
(Vice- President) √

Elected Member
(President) √ √ √ √ √

Jean Pierre Dalais 
CIEL Corporate 

Services Ltd
Elected Member
(Vice-President) √ √ √

Richard Arlove 
Ocorian Corporate 

Services
(Mauritius) Limited

Elected Member √ √ √

Philippe Espitalier-
Noel 

Rogers and Company 
Ltd Elected Member √ √ √ √

Sidharth Sharma RHT Holding Ltd Elected Member √ √ √

Jean Li Yuen Fong Regional Training Centre Elected Member √ √ √ √ √

Nathalie Job Analysis Co Ltd Co-opted
Member √ √ √ √

Christine Sauzier 
CIEL Corporate 

Services Ltd
Co-opted
Member √ √

Cédric de Speville Avipro Company Ltd  President √

Past President √ √ √ √ √
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COUNCIL
MEMBERS

Alain Law Min
Chief Executive Officer
MCB Ltd

Bertrand Casteres
Chief Executive Officer
MUA

Christine Sauzier
Group General Counsel
CIEL Corporate Services Ltd

Guillaume Hugnin
Group Exports
Eclosia Group

Jean Michel Pitot
Chief Executive Officer 
Attitude Hospitality Management Ltd 

Nicolas Pougnet
Managing Director 
BCE

Patrice Robert
Group Head of Operations 
IBL

Philippe Espitalier-Noel
Chief Executive Officer
Rogers and Company Ltd

Richard Arlove
Regional CEO 
Ocorian Corporate Services 
(Mauritius) Limited 

Roshan Seetohul
Vice-President Corporate Affairs 
Euro CRM 

Sebastien Lavoipierre 
Chief Operations Officer  
Industrial Activities Alteo 

Sidharth Sharma
General Manager 
RHT Holding Ltd 

Yannis Fayd’herbe 
Managing Director
MCFI 

Cédric de Speville  
Chief Executive Officer 
Avipro Co Ltd   

President MBA

President AHRIM

President IAM Co-opted Member President MCCI

President BACECA President MEXA Elected member

Elected member
President OTAM President MCA Elected member

President AMM Past President 

Vidia Mooneegan
Managing Director, Ceridian (Mauritius) Ltd

Nathalie Job
Executive Director, Analysis Co Ltd

Jean-Pierre Dalais
Group Chief Executive, CIEL Corporate Services Ltd

Jean Li Yuen Fong
Director, Regional Training Centre

President of Business Mauritius

Treasurer of Business Mauritius

Vice-President of Business Mauritius

Secretary of Business Mauritius
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REVIEW OF THE
YEAR’S ACTIVITIES
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THE THREE
COMMISSIONS

BM NATIONAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION

The National Economic Development Commission has been set up 
to serve as a platform for dialogue and sharing of experiences on 
nationwide economic strategies and policies. Since it was set up, the 
commission helps in identifying and recommending macroeconomic 
strategies and orientations that will contribute to reach the country’s 
true potential.

The National Economic Development Commission also advises 
Business Mauritius on matters of relevance to help it formulate and 
recommend pertinent, balanced and practical policy measures and 
structural reforms. The Commission met 2 times in the financial 
year and comprises of 13 members as below:

SUBCOMMITTEES AND WORKING GROUPS UNDER THE 
NATIONAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION: 

1.  Working Group on Financial Services and Linkages to the 
Economy

The Working Group met several times, physically and online, to 
discuss critical issues and make relevant recommendations. Position 
papers were produced on:

•  Recommendations following FATF Increased Monitoring status 
for Mauritius (Feb 2020)

•  Removing Mauritius from the FATF and EC list of high-risk 
jurisdictions (May 2020)

BM SOCIAL CAPITAL COMMISSION

The Social Capital Commission develops proposals for businesses to 
create a real paradigm shift in employee- employer relationship that 
can thus improve their competitiveness, attractiveness and business 
models among others. Social Capital Commission comprises of 16 
members as below:

The main focus of the Committee:

 -  Develop and establish a Code of Human Capital Practices 
through an engagement with Pendula Group Ltd which 
is a South African based organisation

 -  Launch professional qualifications for HR professionals 
in Mauritius

2. Talent Crunch and Future of Work
 
• Talent Shortage/Remote Work

This subcommittee aims at addressing issues pertaining to talent 
shortage and remote work and providing pragmatic solutions for 
a better future. This shall be achieved through the identification 
of specific themes and organisation of different focus groups for 
brainstorming. In that line, BM engaged with secondary school 
representatives, training providers and employers over a full day 
working session to explore the following:

 -  What are some of the skills gaps observed on the 
Mauritian market?

 -  What are ways in which these gaps can be closed 
holistically from a multi-stakeholder perspective?

• Freelancing

This subcommittee aims at proposing a framework for the 
formalisation and sustainability of Freelance work.

3. Training

The training department addresses the needs of companies for 
sustainable growth, revamp the Training and Learning culture to 
cater for Just In Time (JIT), On the Job and E-based Learning 
and encourages employees to adopt the “Learn to get a job rather 
than a Qualification” motto.

Promoting Gender Mainstreaming and Equality at the workplace

A new subcommittee was set up to promote gender mainstreaming 
and equality at the work place. Business Mauritius’ areas of focus 
rely on women representation at board levels, adequate support 
structures to working mothers and fathers, family-friendly business 
guidelines, gender pay gap, maternity/paternity leave and safety 
to and from work.

Vidia Mooneegan was the chairperson of social capital commission 
from 2019 till 2020 and Madhavi Ramdin Clark was nominated as 
the new chairperson in January 2020.

SUBCOMMITTEES UNDER THE SOCIAL CAPITAL DEPARTMENT:

1. Professionalisation of HR Functions

This subcommittee aims at further enhancing the role of the HR 
by encouraging employers as well as employees, shareholders, 
consultants, suppliers and business partners to embrace its 
commitments to fairness, integrity and transparency in all people 
-centered practices.

2. Pensions and Ageing Population

The members of the subcommittee worked in close collaboration 
with BM in developing strong positions with respect to PRGF and 
CSG.

3. Energy sector Working Group

Together with Business Mauritius, the members of the working group 
were very active in reaching out to relevant business operators 
and reach a common position on a number of key issues. This has 
allowed BM to take a clear and strong position, namely on the need 
for a Biomass Framework for the sustainability of the sugarcane 
sector, in public-private discussions as well as during consultations 
with experts under the aegis of the World Bank and the AFD.

4. Fintech Subcommittee

The Fintech subcommittee has been set up to study the issues 
related to the Fintech sector such as the need to develop an 
enabling national ecosystem, to attract talents and investors and to 
develop new markets for Mauritius, particularly in Africa. The Sub-
committee met 4 times during the financial year. A benchmarking 
exercise was done with a number of Fintech cities across the 
world, and a position paper was produced, which included fasts, 
a situation analysis and recommendations along strategic axes, 
namely the Legal Framework, Skills, Innovation and Incubation, 
Attracting Investment. 
The recommendations were included in the BM Budget proposals 
2020-2021. 

5. SME Subcommittee

Following the good work done by the COVID-19 SME Subcommittee, it 
was proposed and accepted that the SME Subcommittee becomes 
a ‘permanent’ subcommittee to the Economic Commission. The 
objectives are to:

• Support SMEs on a larger agenda
• Create a network of existing SME organisations

Gilbert Gnany (Chair) MCB 

Gérard Boullé Eclosia

Vidia Mooneegan Ceridian (Mauritius) Ltd 

Louis Rivalland SWAN

Nicolas Pougnet BCE

François Eynaud SUN Resorts

André Bonieux Alteo Ltd

Richard Arlove Abax Corporate Services

Dean Lam HSBC

Bertrand Casteres Mauritius Union

Mrs Hélène Echevin C-Care

Mahen Govinda (Chair Fintech) Ocorian

Yousouf Ismael MCCI

Member Organisation

*Vidia Mooneegan Ceridian (Chair)

*Madhavi Ramdin-Clark ACCA (Chair)

Manish Bundhun Rogers Ltd

Hubert Gaspard IBL Limited

Vincent d’Arifat Precigraph

Cindy Rey Ceridian

Eddy Yeung Ferney Spinning Mills

Jean Li Business Mauritius, ex MSPA

Caroline Piat Korn Ferry - Hay Group

Jennifer Webb Adecco

Lawrence Wong Latrobe Limitee

Nathalie Job TNS Analysis

Bertrand Piat Beachcomber Ltd

Ravi Jetshan Ravior

Sebastien Rousset Flowerad

Marc-Antoine Tschopp Consultant

Varsha Naran Consultant
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THE THREE
COMMISSIONS (Cont’d)

BM SUSTAINABILITY AND INCLUSIVE GROWTH COMMISSION

The Sustainability and Inclusive Growth Commission works towards 
advocating for the increased engagement of members in community 
development. Sustainability and Inclusive Growth Commission has 
met 3 times and comprises of 24 members as below:

2. Waste Management and Circular Economy

With more than 500,000 tons/year of solid waste going to a landfill 
which is near saturation and an annual average cost of Rs. 1.2bn, 
Mauritius has to move from waste management to a circular 
economy model. In this regards, the circular economy working group 
met on several occasions to discuss and engage with relevant 
operators to set up an Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) 
framework for plasctic (PET bottles) on a pilot phase.

The following recommendations are proposed:

•  Publication of the draft National Waste Management Strategy 
(2017) and implementation of the Phase 2 at the level of SWMD.

•  Signing of an agreement between SWMD and BM to introduce 
the Extended Producer Responsibility EPR principle in Mauritius. In 
many countries, circular economy is possible thanks to EPR principle 
driven by private operators and without financing agreement, 
under the national strategy fixed by government. Public-private 
collaboration is crucial for a modern and efficient mechanism 
of waste management through planned collection, sorting and 
disposal of waste. EPR mechanism will raise private financing to 
recycle and valorise the product. Waste generated by economic 
activities should be assumed by economic operators and not only 
through the municipal waste management. Circular economy and 
EPR principle will allow a just and fair ecological transition where 
the consumer pays for the lifecycle of the product and not the 
tax payers. (The annex to the budget speech makes reference 
to the Environment Protection Act which will be amended to 
set up an Extended Producer Responsibility on management 
of E-wastes, end of life vehicles and waste batteries, in close 
partnership with the private sector)

•  Develop an EPR operational pilot phase for plastic packaging 
(PET, HPDE, PP…). BM has already started a feasibility study 
with the technical and financial assistance of RégionRéunion/EU.

•  Setting up 5 to 10 civic amenity centre across the island. SWMD 
could invest in the infrastructure and small businesses could 
operate the centre using the EPR mechanism. Private operators, 
like smart cities, are ready to collaborate with SWMD and include 
more civic amenity centre in their development. (The budget 
2020/21 makes provision for the setting up a network of Civic 
Amenity Centres (déchetteries) at the 5 Transfer Stations)

3. Lagoon & Coastal Rehabilitation

The public-private initiative for the rehabilitation of coastal zones 
in Mauritius in the form of a MoU, was initially drafted to be signed 
between Business Mauritius and the Ministry of Environment. 
However, after ironing out institutional issues and potential conflict 
of interest, the MoU is now set to be signed between Business 
Mauritius and the Beach Authority.

In this context, Business Mauritius intends to capitalize on the 
existing partnership with Agence Française de Développement 
(AFD) for the deployment of resources under the SUNREF 3 credit 
line programme in the form of technical assistance (expertise) 
and financing. Below some of the recommendations that can be 
easily implemented:

•  Pilot phase on a dedicated coastal cell using integrated coastal 
zone management and nature-based solutions

•  Use environmental taxes and fees to rehabilitate lagoons and 
beaches (a budget of Rs. 215 Million has been allocated for the 
protection of our beaches, lagoons and coral reefs)

•  Establish a clear process for rehabilitation works, with reasonable 
cut-off dates for objections

•  Review the existing configuration of public beaches to provide 
more leisure space, by moving parking off-site and integrating 
an online parking reservation mechanism

4. Inclusive Growth

• Guidelines for Inclusive Development for Businesses

With a view to improve the engagement of businesses towards 
community actions, a guideline on inclusive growth for businesses 
has been prepared, together with members of the Subcommittee 
on Inclusive Growth. The guideline has also been validated with the 
BM Sustainability Network, to ensure coherence but also for their 
adherence and commitment.

The guideline highlights seven categories of action, namely:

 Non-financial support to NGOs/Vulnerable groups

 
 Employee Engagement/Involvement

 
 Support to needy/vulnerable staff within the organization

 Inclusive employment 

 Promotion of gender equality

 Fourth Sector/Social enterprise

  Financial contribution to NGOs, community-based projects 
and vulnerable groups

Relevant business actions and examples of success stories have 
been set out to guide businesses in their effort.

Subcommittees under the Sustainability and Inclusive Growth 
Department: 

1. Energy Transition

• Club NouLenerzi – Les Entrepreneurs de la Transition Energétique

A meeting was held on the 17 September 2019 whereby Dr. 
Soonarane from the Ministry of Energy & Public Utilities talked 
about the Renewable Energy Roadmap 2030 for the electricity 
sector which was launched in August 2019.

Another meeting of the “Club des Entrepreneurs de la Transition 
Energétique” was held on the 2nd December 2019 in front of a 
crowd of 70 participants. This session’s agenda was mainly about 
the current situation and opportunities on the use of electric 
vehicles in Mauritius.

Videos of the two events can be viewed on Business Mauritius’ 
noulenerzi youtube channel:

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UClmvsOvITAfYna8VOT6w8AA/
featured

• Biomass Framework

Bioelectricity is at the junction between land use optimisation 
and generation of electricity for the national energy consumption.

The ‘Renewable Energy Roadmap 2030 for the Electricity Sector’ 
launched in August 2019 by MEPU, targets a share of 508 GWh 
from biomass, i.e. an increase of 60% of what was produced in 2018. 
This is very encouraging for this sector which has been declining. 
However, in order to reverse the decreasing trend and meet this 
objective, implementation of a biomass framework is urgent. The 
biomass framework will also bring a significant contribution in 
achieving a sustainable sugar cane industry and in keeping the 
beautiful landscapes of our island by encouraging plantation of 
other biomass on marginal lands that have been abandoned. 

The following recommendations have been submitted to MEPU by 
the Biomass Working Group of Business Mauritius in November:

 -  Remunerate Bagasse Energy appropriately at Rs. 
3.50 per kWh of bagasse energy exported to the 
grid (over and above Bagasse Transfer Price) with an 
indexation mechanism to be agreed on going forward. 
It is important to note that if bagasse disappears, IPPs 
will generate electricity using 100% coal. Therefore, the 
remuneration at Rs. 3.50 per kWh is an opportunity cost 
based of the fuel used in CEB’s thermal power plants, 
the most probable alternative of firm energy.

 -   Provide an adequate remuneration that will boost the 
harvesting of Cane Trash on all mechanised fields, Rs. 
3.50 per kWh of cane trash energy exported to the 
grid.

 -  Promote cultivation of sugar cane varieties with at least 
same sugar yield but higher fibre content also known 
as ‘CanneMixte’ that will boost energy production from 
bagasse.

Member Organisation

Philippe Espitalier-Noël (Chair) Rogers & Co Ltd

Vivian Serret Leal Group Ltd

Harold Mayer Lovebridge - CSR

Jacqueline Sauzier MCA – Smart Agriculture

Sidharth Sharma Rose Hill Transport

Tony Lee Luen Len ECOSIS

Daniel Essoo MBA

Derick Steinhobel ARUP

Angélique Desvaux Lawyer

Caroline Rault Maurilait - Eclosia

Emmanuel André IBL

Mary-Ann Griffiths Bioculture

Rabin Bhujun ION News

Thierry Ollivry OLADIA LTD

Yogini Ittoo OXO

Fabrice Tennant OXO

Kristina Samudio Eclosia

Shirin Gunny AMM

Christian Nanon Rogers & Co Ltd

Belinda Vacher Rogers & Co Ltd

Vanessa Doger de Speville Mauritius Commercial Bank

Iqbal Bhugun Currimjee Jeewanjee& Co Ltd 

Jean-Luc Wilain IBL

VassenKauppaymuthoo Delphinium Ltd
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THE THREE
COMMISSIONS (Cont’d)

4. Inclusive Growth (Cont’d)

• NGO collaboration and advocacy for support for vulnerable families

A BM-NGO working group has been instituted as part of BM’s 
initiatives to achieve inclusive growth. The main objective of this 
working group is to ensure a continuous and structured dialogue 
between businesses and NGOs. Through this platform, both 
NGOs and the business community can express their needs 
and constraints and share feedback, for better collaboration to 
achieve community action goals. NGOs from different sectors are 
represented. In February 2020, a first networking event was held 
for NGOs in the Health and Disability sectors and the business 
community. Around 20 NGOs were present and the main objective 
of the meeting was to create an open platform for sharing and 
discussion between NGOs and companies. The representatives of 
NGOS and businesses shared their views and provided suggestions 
on improving collaboration between the different actors. The 
participants present expressed their satisfaction with the initiative 
of Business Mauritius.

5. Smart Agriculture

This committee is mainly supported by the Mauritius Chamber 
of Agriculture (MCA), which is currently working on pilot projects 
with farms to reduce use of pesticides in agricultural practices.

In the context of the sanitary crisis where food security and the 
need to produce locally has been highlighted, Business Mauritius 
has made some recommendations:

•  Reduce import dependency on food by identifying sustainable 
local alternatives. 10,000 hectares of Abandoned Agricultural 
Land to be used for Food Crops for Import Substitution

•  Set targets for sustainable agriculture practices to apply to 100% 
local and imported produce by 2030 - provide assistance to 
empower, train and protect local producers 

•  Incentivise and assist the creation of long-term working linkages 
between large producers/agro-processors and small producers 
for an increase in production and quality (e.g. sectors of milk and 
pig production)

•  Assistance to producers should be result oriented – refund of 
grant on non-performance/abandonment

6. Sustainable Cities and Communities

The committee has worked mainly on the Sustainability Pact 
guidelines around Cities/Communities. In particular, the need 
to engage companies in actions that promote Culture/Arts, the 
preservation of historic sites, to watch over architectural pollution 
through “low density building development” and the creation of 
community gardens.

7. Climate Finance

One of topics discussed under this committee, is about a feasibility 
study to be conducted regarding green bonds with local banks 
as issuer.

The subcommittee also convened to discuss the project of UNDP 
and Green Climate Fund (GCF): Enhancing the resilience of the 
Coastal Zone of the Republic of Mauritius to Climate Change using 
the ridge to reef approach. The overall objective of this project is to 
promote an integrated ridge to reef approach to increase resilience 
against heavy rainfall and sea level rise, combat erosion along 
rivers and beaches, and restore riverine and marine ecosystems.

The project is in progress to obtain a grant of USD 25M from 
the GCF and for which UNDP is seeking the support of banks and 
companies for the co-financing of the project, for an amount of 
USD 60M within the next 2 years.

8.  Regional Cooperation on Energy Transition, Smart Agriculture 
and Circular Economy

Business Mauritius has actively contributed to the Indian Ocean 
Commission (IOC) with regards to the ENERGIES programme, 
to build the Indian Ocean Energy Transition Network 2030. 
The objective was to demonstrate the commitment of private 
institutions and companies in the Energy Transition 2030. A strategic 
document was delivered in October 2019 in Madagascar. 

Since March 2020, the organization FormaTerra supports Business 
Mauritius and Mauritius Chamber of Agriculture (MCA) for the 
construction of a training course in agro-ecology.

Since January 2020, the Syndicat de l’Importation et du Commerce 
de la Réunion (SICR) and Cluster Green are supporting Business 
Mauritius, to set up the Extended Producer/Importer Responsibility 
(EPR) principle in Mauritius. It is to be noted that the EPR principle 
set up in Reunion Island is working very well for various waste 
streams.
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SECTORAL REPRESENTATIONS AND NEW WORKING GROUPS

The BM team was engaged in various public-private meetings, 
committees, workshops and seminars covering most sectors 
including: Financial Services, Sugar, Industrial Policy, Manufacturing 
Strategy, Tourism, Ocean Economy, SMEs, Innovation, Angel 
Investment, Freeport, Ease of Doing Business, E-licensing, Mo 
Ibrahim Index, Global Innovation Index, Exhaustion of IP rights, 
Sustainable Development Goals.

In addition to the existing Working Groups on real estate and 
biomass, new Working Groups on Freeport and Healthcare were 
created with relevant operators. BM was also mandated by the 
Association of Private Higher Education Institutions to formalise 
their Association, provide administrative and secretarial support 
for their meetings and provide strategic support with regards to 
their advocacy initiatives.

• Freeport Working Group

The Freeport Working Group was set up with the main Freeport 
Developers. The objective was to agree on the common position 
to sustain the sector and maintain jobs over the long term, to 
develop a clear strategy, to ensure long-term stability and to 
position Mauritius on the international market. A position paper 
was finalised and discussed with officials from the government 
and relevant institutions. Recommendations were included in the 
BM Budget Memorandum 2020-2021. 
Further discussions are required with relevant public institutions to 
accelerate the implementation of the recommendations.

• Healthcare Working Group

The health working group was set up with representatives of private 
clinics, medical labs, medical insurers and Insurers Association 
Mauritius. The objective was to develop a common position on the 
development of the sector, namely by improving public-private 
collaboration and being proactive in developing the legislative 
and administrative framework favourable to PPP developments 
in the health sector.
Following 2 meetings of the working group, a project team was 
formed to write a position paper on healthcare services in Mauritius.

The exercise highlighted a number of recommendations which were 
included in the BM Budget proposals 2020- 2021.

• Association of Private Higher Education Institutions (APHEI)

BM supported the setting up of the APHEI which regroups private 
universities and other higher education institutions. The main aim 
of APHEI is to represent, promote and protect the engagement of 
the private higher education institutions in Mauritius. In this context, 
a Memorandum of Understanding was signed in December 2019 
between the two parties. BM has been mandated to provide 
operational and administrative assistance to APHEI, and can 
help bridge the link between the private institution members and 
other stakeholders.

NATIONAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT - INITIATIVES YEAR 
2019-2020

NEW NATIONAL BUDGET COORDINATION PROCESS

Based on past experience, Business Mauritius conducted a review 
of the entire process for the National Budget consultations. Inputs 
from commissions, working groups, partner members and members 
were collected earlier and a first draft Memo was ready on 15 
March 2020, just before the Covid-19 lockdown. 

The post-budget speech process was also reviewed, and the 
press conference was held on the next day morning. This allowed 
for more extensive discussions among partner members and a 
more coherent public communications process.

Lessons were also learnt from the new approach and BM will 
endeavour to continuously improve the process.

REPRESENTATION ON INTERNATIONAL TRADE AND FORA

Business Mauritius has been actively contributing to discussions 
with respect to:

• India-CECPA
• Mauritius-China FTA
• Africa Continental Free Trade Agreement (AfCFTA)
• UK (Brexit)
• APEI

COMITÉ PRIVÉ-PRIVÉ MAURICE-RÉUNION

In addition, BM has maintained its commitment to act as a bridge 
between the industry associations of Réunion and Mauritius. In this 
light, it also hosts the representative of the Club Export Reunion 
in Mauritius with a view to promote economic collaboration and 
exchanges between our two territories.

International Fora and meetings

Business Mauritius participated in the ACP business summit in the 
margins of the 9th summit of ACP heads of state and government 
in December 2019 in Nairobi, Kenya, where the CEO moderated 
a panel discussion on Digital Entrepreneurship, Industry 4.0 and 
Artificial Intelligence.

Business Mauritius participated in the IORA Experts Meeting to 
enhance Trade and Investment held in Mauritius on 30-31 January 
2020.

Business Mauritius participated in meetings with international 
delegations visiting Mauritius from Japan, Niger and Madagascar.

NATIONAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT - INITIATIVES YEAR 
2019-2020 (CONT’D)

THEMATIC AND SECTORAL INTERVENTIONS

World Bank Country Economic Memorandum (CEM)

Since July 2019, Business Mauritius is a member of the advisory 
group for the World Bank Country Economic Memorandum, working 
directly with WB specialists via online meetings to discuss the 
structure of the CEM as well as preliminary priorities, findings, 
questions and report chapters.

Coordinated strategy to increase trade and investment

Business Mauritius is actively involved in a multi-stakeholder technical 
meeting hosted by the MOFA as from December 2019 in view of 
a coordinated strategy to increase trade and investment, in the 
wake of a Ministerial Committee to be chaired by the Minister of 
Foreign Affairs on the subject. BM provided inputs and reviewed 
the concept note prepared by MOFA.

Business Facilitation

Business Mauritius partners closely with the Economic Development 
Board (EDB) on Improving the Investment and Business Climate in 
Mauritius. Good progress is being made on E-licensing, Business 
Process Re-engineering, Regulatory Review and Regulatory Impact 
Assessment.

Regulatory Impact Assessment

The OECD has been entrusted by the EU with the task of 
supporting the Government of Mauritius in the development of 
a RIA framework as part of the action “Establishing Regulatory 
Impact Assessment (RIA) in Mauritius”, which is financed under 
the European Development Fund (EDF).

Business Mauritius is a member of the Core Group for the 
implementation of Regulatory Impact Assessment (RIA) in Mauritius.

Industrial Policy and Manufacturing Strategy

Business Mauritius is working closely with the Ministry of Industrial 
Development, SMEs and Cooperatives (MIDSC) in the process of 
formulating an Industrial Policy and Strategic Plan (2020-2025) for 
Mauritius, with the assistance of the United Nations Conference 
on Trade and Development (UNCTAD). BM has participated in a 
number of meetings and workshops with the consultant, submitted 
recommendations and reviewed the relevant analysis and reports 
of the consultant. The final report is expected by end-2020.

In addition, BM is also engaged with the EDB and the World Bank 
on a strategic plan for the Manufacturing sector.

SMEs and Start-ups

Business Mauritius pursued its commitment to support SMEs and 
enhance the local ecosystem to support SMEs and start-ups.
BM was part of the Joint Working Group, together with AMM and 
SME Mauritius, which oversaw the Tradecom II project under the 
aegis of MOFA, aiming at enhancing the export capabilities of SMEs, 
with a pilot of 30 SMEs registered with SME Mauritius. A number 
of practical manuals and guidelines have been produced by the 
consultants, to improve quality, standards, export readiness and 
export capabilities of SMEs, with a strong focus on agro-industry.

Research and Innovation

Business Mauritius co-chairs the Research and Development 
Working Group with the Mauritius Research and Innovation Council.

BM is also a member of Technical Committee on Research & 
Development & Innovation Indicators (TCRDII) chaired by the 
MRIC, to work on improving the Global Innovation Index scores and 
ranking of Mauritius, as well as improving the level of Research and 
Development and collaboration between academia and business 
on applied research.

Governance

Business Mauritius sits on the High-Level Technical Committee 
on the Mo-Ibrahim Index of African Governance Report chaired 
by MOFED, which aims at improving the score and sub-scores of 
Mauritius on the said index.
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PORTABLE RETIREMENT GRATUITY FUND (PRGF)

Part VIII of the Workers’ Rights Act provides for the establishment 
of a Portable Retirement Gratuity Fund whose aim is to provide 
for the payment of a gratuity to a worker on his retirement and 
to the heirs of a worker on his death. Employers are supposed 
to contribute to the PRGF 4,5% of the monthly remuneration of 
every worker, other than those contributing to a private pension 
fund. Following the enactment of the COVID Act 2020, the date of 
contributions to the Fund which was to start on 1 January 2020 
has now been postponed to such date as will be prescribed.

In order to mitigate the impact of the PRGF on SMEs, Regulations 
have been made for a partial contribution to be made to the 
Fund from the seed capital from the Workfare Programme Fund.

NEW REMUNERATION REGULATIONS

With a view to uniformising terms and conditions of employment 
in all sectors of employment, new Remuneration Regulations have 
been made to replace the existing 30 Remuneration Orders.

The new Remuneration Regulations now provide for only terms 
and conditions which are specific to each sectors, leaving the 
general terms and conditions of employment to be governed by 
the Workers’ Rights Act.

Additionally, a new Remuneration Regulations for the Information 
and Communication Technologies and Other Related Services 
has been made.

REVISION OF NATIONAL MINIMUM WAGE

The National Minimum Wage was introduced in January 2018 with 
the aim to providing a decent salary to workers of both the public 
and private sector.

The National Minimum Wage has been revised with effect from 
01 January 2020 and has been fixed to Rs. 9,000 for a worker 
in the Export Oriented Enterprise and to Rs. 9,700 for a worker 
in the other sectors of employment, inclusive of the additional 
remuneration for 2020.

ADDITIONAL REMUNERATION/SALARY COMPENSATION 
EXERCISE 

Business Mauritius coordinated the position of its Members on 
the salary compensation payable with effect from January 2020 
and submitted its Memorandum to the Ministry of Finance and 
Economic Development.

PROTOCOL ON HEAVY RAINFALL FOR THE PRIVATE SECTOR

Business Mauritius in collaboration with the National Disaster Risk 
Reduction and Management Council has prepared a Protocol on 
Heavy Rainfall for the Private Sector.

The objective of this protocol is to provide advice and practical 
guidelines to private enterprises on work arrangements in times of 
heavy rainfall/localised heavy rainfall and aims at ensuring safety 
of employees and service continuity.

During a briefing session held at Business Mauritius, member 
companies were apprised of the main features of the Protocol and 
were requested to give due consideration to the setting up of a 
Heavy Rainfall Committee and preparation of a Preparedness Plan.

Business Mauritius is also working closely with the National Disaster 
Risk Reduction and Management Centre for the implementation of 
the protocol and to ensure speedy and effective communication 
during spells of heavy rainfall. In that context, Business Mauritius 
has compiled a database of focal persons amongst its members.

IMPACT ASSESSMENT ON THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE 
WORKERS’ RIGHTS ACT

Business Mauritius had commissioned a survey to Kantar to evaluate 
the impact of the WRA on the private sector.

The Study concludes that businesses are incurring huge financial 
and non-financial impacts that are directly affecting their operations 
and output especially relating to provisions on contribution to 
PRGF/Past Services, end of year bonus, overtime, vacation leave.

BEST PRACTICES – POST CONFINEMENT BACK TO WORK 
SAFETY

The BM COVID-19 response HR Committee and the BM team 
has compiled a set of Best Practices on certain key issues which 
enterprises need to consider and provide for whilst organising 
their operations in the post confinement environment with a view 
to limiting the spread of the virus so that there is no resurgence 
or second or successive waves of outbreak.

THE COVID-19 (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT – 
AMENDMENT TO THE WORKERS’ RIGHTS ACT AND THE 
EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS ACT

The COVID-19 (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act has amended various 
provisions of the WRA and the Employment Relations Act. The 
amendments are wide in scope and cover a range of world of 
work issues.

The most substantial amendments are, notably, postponing the 
enforcement of the provisions relating to the Portable Retirement 
Gratuity Fund and for certain industries only, providing an 
accelerated redundancy procedure and regulating the rate of 
pay for overtime.

SOCIAL CAPITAL
CLUSTER
YEAR 2019-2020 ACTIVITIES

SALARY SURVEY 2019

Competitive salary and benefits offer is very important in retaining 
coveted employees. However, overpay might unnecessarily affect 
payroll and the overall profitability of a company. Organizations 
therefore, have to bridge the gap between the industry standards 
and their salary packages. They cannot provide compensation 
packages that are either less than the industry standards or 
higher than the market rates. In that line, Business Mauritius 
commissioned Kantar TNS to conduct a salary survey for the 
benefit of its members to shed light on the market wages so that 
local businesses can use the findings for benchmarking and aligning 
their remuneration structure where necessary.

NATIONAL APPRENTICESHIP PROGRAMME (NAP)

The National Apprenticeship Programme (NAP), designed for 
unemployed youths, combines Work-Based Learning in enterprises 
with technical knowledge taught in MITD training centres. Business 
Mauritius strongly believes that this apprenticeship programme 
will provide a systematic means of forging collaboration between 
TVET institutes and enterprises. In that respect, Business Mauritius 
conducted a series of briefing sessions to disseminate information 
on the National Apprenticeship Programme in four different fields 
as a pilot, namely. Sales, Home Carers, Smart Agriculture and 
Pattern Drafting.

Business Mauritius shall also conduct a survey among its members 
regarding Micromechanics, E-Commerce & 3D Animation as owing 
to the dynamism prevailing in those sectors, industry demand in 
terms of skills may alter.

ESPACE DES MÉTIERS

Through the National Apprenticeship programme, which has included 
7 new sectors, the new apprentices will be regrouped under an 
“Espace des Métiers”. Unfortunately, with the advent, of COVID 
19, the programme has been delayed. The “Espace des Métiers” 
was initially planned to be launched during the second quarter in 
2020 and should now be launched in October 2020. The “Espace 
des Métiers” shall be pursued in order to ensure that artisans 
are able to continue their professional development. The “Espace 
des Métiers” will regroup Alumni of the National Apprenticeship 
Programme and will enable a development plan for these artisans. 
Business Mauritius shall also collaborate with the MITD to develop 
a Directory of “Métiers”, i.e., a list of competencies shall be made 
available to companies and individuals for project-driven purposes.

TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT

Business Mauritius aims at assisting private sector organisations 
in framing future strategic decisions to: 

•  Enable businesses to remain competitive and maintain skilled 
and motivated employees 

•  Improve competencies and performance of workforce to adapt 
to the rapidly changing economic environment 

•  Encourage employers to invest in lifelong learning which is central 
to employment and economic growth

Assistance is provided by:

•  Designing and running courses as per industry/sector demands 
to address skillsgaps

•  Organising High-Level Conferences on Topics & issues raised in 
different forums

•  Providing employers with the appropriate tools and techniques 
to profile and upskill existing staff

•  Advising members on changes pertaining to Legislations (Finance 
Act, Data Protection, HRDC, MQA etc.)

•  Facilitating employers to limit administrative constraints that may 
crop up from the regulatory bodies (MQA /HRDC etc.) or any other 
difficulties pertaining to Training and Development

•  Providing a platform through subcommittees on the Social Capital 
Commission for developing linkages among Training Institutions 
to capture and disseminating pertinent information related to 
skills development

•  Holistically reviewing the TVET Sector through the subcommittee 
on the Social Capital Commission

CODE OF PEOPLE PRACTICE

Business Mauritius has engaged with Pendula Group Ltd for the 
development and establishment of a Code of People Practices 
which aims at enabling business growth and sustainability through 
sound people practices. Pendula Group Ltd is a South African based 
organisation whereby its Strategic Human Capital Specialists strive 
to effectively maximize on the potential of individuals contributing 
to organisational success.

Following the insightful workshop on The Future of Human Capital 
in Business held in November 2019, the consultants have now come 
up with a draft of the Code which was also validated by different 
relevant stakeholders. However, owing to the sudden outbreak of 
the Covid-19, the launching has been delayed.

WORKERS’ RIGHTS ACT (WRA)

The WRA has come into operation by proclamation with effect 
from 24 October 2019, except Part VIII of the Act pertaining 
to the Portable Retirement Gratuity Fund. The Act repeals the 
Employment Rights Act 2008.

The Act has brought significant changes to issues pertaining to 
the world of work namely working times, contract of determinate 
duration, restructuring of enterprises and the introduction of 
Portable Retirement Gratuity Fund among others.

Business Mauritius organised briefing sessions for its members 
on the WRA to provide them with a better idea on the significant 
changes brought in the new Act.
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SUSTAINABILITY AND
INCLUSIVE GROWTH CLUSTER
YEAR 2019-2020 ACTIVITIES

SUSTAINABILITY NETWORK

Business Mauritius has set up the “BM Sustainability Network” 
with the main objective of disseminating knowledge, skills and best 
practices emanating from the Sustainability & Inclusive Growth 
Commission. In view of helping to build a sustainable Mauritius 
through business, a meeting with the BM Sustainability Network 
was held on 31 October 2019. It was a great opportunity to explain 
how Business Mauritius can further support businesses in their 
sustainability initiatives through the Sustainability PACT which 
comprises of 5 core commitments. The objective of this meeting 
was to bring together sustainability officer/managers and gather 
their input so as to co-construct the Sustainability PACT.

On 2nd December 2019, the Network was convened to finalize 
the Sustainability PACT based on input/ideas from the previous 
meeting, in view of the launch scheduled during the month of May 
2020. The guideline for one of the commitments, namely “Inclusive 
Development” has been prepared and was presented during that 
meeting to ensure coherence but also for their adherence and 
commitment. Relevant business actions and examples of success 
stories have been set out to guide businesses in their effort.

In the same vein, guidelines for the remaining 4 commitments have 
been drafted during the lockdown period and will be presented to 
the Network, before their finalization.

SUSTAINABILITY PACT

The Sustainability Pact was first announced by the Chairman of 
the Sustainability and Inclusive Growth commission during the 
Annual General Meeting 2019. Following this announcement, the 
team has gathered the business community to present, explain 
and gather feedback around the 5 commitments, listed below:

  We commit to shift to a low-carbon economy to 
consolidate resilient development

  Engage in sustainable consumption and production, 
including a local agricultural value chain, through producer/
importer and consumer responsibility to valorise and 
optimize resources and by-products

  Protect our biodiversity and natural heritage through 
mindful development and adapting to climate change 
collaboratively

  Make our island safe, pleasant, and valorise cultural and 
historical heritage for the well-being of communities

 We commit to adopt Inclusive Development Practices

The 5 commitments were fine-tuned and finalized following a 
meeting held on 2nd December 2019.

Despite the lockdown, Business Mauritius has been in regular 
communication with its members through surveys and 
questionnaires, to gather feedback from the Network but also 
to keep building the momentum up to the launch which has been 
re-programmed for August 2020.

SUNREF

Business Mauritius is responsible for implementing the technical 
assistance of the SUNREF (Sustainable Use of Natural Resources 
and Energy Finance) programme, in order to anchor it as closely 
as possible to business needs, and to strengthen the ecosystem 
favorable to green investments. The project management team was 
fully operational, following the recruitment of a Project Manager and 
an Administrative Assistant in August and September respectively.

After months of work, laying the foundation and establishing 
processes, a first batch of projects were submitted by partner 
banks, the MCB and SBM Bank (Mauritius), towards end of June 
2019. By mid-February 2020, all projects except one were validated 
by AFD, following technical eligibility report produced by the Technical 
Assistance.
 
On 5th March 2020, an event was organized to democratize the 
specifics, create the necessary visibility around the challenges, 
advantages and opportunities offered by SUNREF III, enhance the 
involvement of local partner banks, mobilize and bring together 
the actors of the ecological transition. This full-day event was a 
huge success, with the presence of +250 participants from various 
sectors. The organization of this event was made possible thanks 
to the financial participation of AFD and European Union.

Video of the whole event can be viewed on the following link:
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=OCNAg8AuAI41.

5.

2.

3.

4.
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PROJECTS
& SCHEMES 

BUSINESS ROAD SAFETY PROGRAMME (BUROS)

The Business Road Safety programme (BUROS) is the engagement 
of the private sector in the National Safety Campaign. It aims at 
engaging the business community to adopt a preventative approach 
to road accidents and reach at least 150,000 employees and 
therefore sensitise their household, around 500,000 Mauritians 
through 3 action areas:

• Road Safety Protocol for Enterprises (RSPE)
• Systemic changes for improved Business Related Road Safety and;
• Regular Communication on Business Related Road Safety

BUROS launched the Two-Wheelers Training Programme with RHT 
as the training provider. The objective of the training was for users of 
two-wheelers to acquire the required skills and knowledge to safely 
ride a motorbike and to adapt to any circumstance of the road. 
Around 185 employees benefitted from this training programme.

BM collaborated with the Ministry of Transport and Light Rail on 
the ‘Zero Accident Campaign’ to promote road safety among 
employees when commuting to and from their workplace.

The main objectives of the campaign are:

•  To develop a road safety culture and promote and explain the 
Charter

• To mobilise employees on the objective «zero accident»
•  To highlight the importance of human lives and change the 

behaviour of road users
•  To educate employees by providing them with relevant information 

on road safety

MOSANTE HEALTH SCHEMES

Strategic Plan

In order to review its strategies and its operational procedures 
with the aim of being more competitive and effective and to 
achieve growth, a strategic plan was initiated by the Management 
Committee of Mosanté. The firm Appavoo Corporate Services Ltd 
was appointed as consultant to identify new & ambitious goals 
and objectives for the Association and develop a comprehensive 
strategic plan.

Appavoo Corporate Services Ltd submitted its report to the 
Management Committee in May 2019 together with their 
recommendations and an elaborated implementation plan.
In 2019/20, emphasis was laid on the implementation of the 
recommendations laid down in the strategic plan.

Mobile Application 

BMPA also launched its user-friendly mobile application that will 
enable its beneficiaries to have real time information on their 
medical cover anywhere, anytime at their fingertips.

With Mosanté App, members have access to view:

• Progress on their claim refunds
• Benefits limits available under their health plan
• Membership details of main member and dependents
• Details of contributions

Special Features of Mosanté App:

•  Snap & Send: Claim Submission – Submit photos of their claims
•  Access electronic membership card at all times for both Payless 

and In-Patient services.

Family Cover

During the year, Mosanté also launched a family cover. The Mosanté 
Family cover caters for both inpatient and outpatient benefits with 
a family limit applicable to Inpatient and a separate limit applicable 
to outpatient treatments.

SUPER FUND PENSION SCHEME
 
Super Fund has achieved a commendable growth despite the 
prevailing stiff market competition and the challenging economic 
environment. The Fund registered a return of 11.75% for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2019. The year 2020 is proving 
to be extremely challenging and volatile so far, with the COVID 19 
pandemic and prospects of global recession.

With the introduction of Portable Retirement Gratuity Fund (PRGF)
for the private sector under the new Workers Rights Act, employees 
covered by Super Fund pension scheme, will not need to make 
any additional contribution into the PRGF and there is no minimum 
contribution rate to be satisfied.

BM-MCCI BUILDING PROJECT

The Building Committee met on Monday, 17 February 2020 and 
approved the Terms of Reference. The Terms of Reference was 
also vetted by BM and MCCI respective Councils.

Following a presentation of the building extension project by 
the President of MCCI due to the urgent need to accommodate 
additional students, members approved the project of the building 
extension by MCCI and agreed to improve and modernise the 
façade of the existing building including BM’s side.

LOVEBRIDGE

A study was carried out by Lovebridge to analyse the long-term 
holistic accompaniment approach as a socially innovative project, 
and its impact on the empowerment of people living in situations 
of poverty.



BUSINESS MAURITIUS
ANNUAL REPORT 2020

BUSINESS MAURITIUS
ANNUAL REPORT 202038 39

BM COVID-19
COMMITTEES 

In order to support members and businesses in the face of 
the COVID-19 pandemic and of its related consequences and 
constraints, Business Mauritius reorganized itself and set up 
appropriate teams, committees and processes to address specific 
issues.

As soon as the confinement was announced, a Business Monitoring 
Unit (BMU) was created, comprised of staff from various BM 
departments, in a work-from-home mode. Members were invited 
to contact the BMU via email to submit their requests, questions 
and feedback on any subject.

BM also consolidated and coordinated requests for Work Access 
Permits for all Partner Members and ordinary members.

BM also gradually set up a number of committees with business 
leaders and relevant specialists to develop structured responses on 
major issues. The objectives and outputs of the various committees 
is described below:

HEALTH COMMITTEE

The BM COVID Response Health Committee is chaired by Philippe 
Espitalier-Noël and is composed of 8 members from private 
clinics, importers of medical equipment, supplies and medicine, 
and laboratories. The objectives of the committee are to:

•  Assist public authorities in controlling the spread of the pandemic 
and building national resilience against the COVID-19 virus, by 
mobilising actors of the Private sector.

•  Develop a common understanding of the situation and understand 
how the business community can contribute to the above

•  The committee worked with the Cross-border Logistics Committee 
to ensure the shipment of critical medical supplies and equipment 
from China since 11 April 2020, and from Europe and South Africa 
in the coming weeks.

•  The Health committee was positioned as the focal point for the 
business community to take coordinated action with Government 
on public health in the wake of COVID-19

•  It has also developed a shared understanding of the Health-
related aspects of the pandemic, focusing on the local context 
and understanding strategies adopted by other countries, in order 
to better guide the business community on the way forward.

ECONOMIC RECOVERY COMMITTEE

The BM Economic recovery committee was chaired by Gilbert Gnany 
and composed of 10 members from manufacturing, hospitality, 
financial services, ICT/BPO and agri-business among others. The 
objectives of the committee were to:
 
•  Work on the strategy for economic recovery, including short 

and medium-term recommendations for easing the path for 
businesses to recover.

•  Quick wins on cash flow and short-term support recommendations 
to serve as the basis for recommendations to Government,

•  How to finance the real economy, trade matters and sectoral 
recommendations (tourism, manufacturing, ICT/BPO, construction, 
real estate)

•  Cross-cutting measures (labour laws, other legislations etc.) which 
can help the economy to recover faster

The findings were used as an addendum to the Budget 
Memorandum.

From this exercise, a Subcommittee has been created to bring 
forward issues being faced by SMEs.

CROSS BORDER LOGISTICS COMMITTEE

The BM Cross Border logistics committee was chaired by Vishal 
Nunkoo and composed of 7 members. The committee included 
representatives of MCCI, MEXA, Air Mauritius, APAMM (Association 
Professionnelle des Agents Maritimes Mauriciens), APT (Association 
Professionnelle des Transitaires de l’Ile Maurice) among others.

The committee’s main deliveries were to assist on:

• Addressing Port Congestion
•  Waiving of Demurrage Fees by shipping lines and Port Charges 

by CHCL
• Organisation of freight flights for critical supplies
• Public-Private Focal point for the sector

FOOD, NECESSARY SUPPLIES AND ENERGY COMMITTEE

The BM Food, essential supplies and energy committee was chaired 
by Cedric de Speville and composed of 11 members from food and 
livestock production, local manufacturing of foods and essentials, 
logistics and retail, and energy.

The committee worked to unlock immediate constraints such as 
the Work Access Permits (WAPs) and ability to operate during 
confinement (supply chain approach). It worked on establishing a 
clear protocol for business continuity for food supply chain.

It also recommended short-term support measures including 
potential solutions to address cash flow issues and pressures on 
employment

HUMAN RESOURCES COMMITTEE

The BM Human Resources committee was chaired by Madhavi 
Ramdin-Clark and composed of 8 members, including Group HRs 
and BM IR team.

•  The committee accompanied and guided members on HR 
and people management issues during the crisis and made 
recommendations for policies and measures aimed to support 
enterprises during and after the crisis, as well as prepare for 
recovery.

COMMUNICATION COMMITTEE

The BM Communication committee was initially chaired by Richard Arlove and later by Bertrand Casteres. The committee also comprised 
7 members from creative agencies, communication departments and BM communication team. The committee supported the overall 
BM Covid-19 Response during the crisis, to reinforce the important messages during the lockdown and gradual resumption of activities. 

SOLIDARITY COMMITTEE

Following the lockdown and the impact of the pandemic on vulnerable groups, an urgent Solidarity Committee was set up by BM, together 
with NGOs and representative of NSIF.

The objective of this committee was:

• to optimize the operation of the NGOs network;
•  to find solutions and to structure and coordinate with the relevant authorities and NGOs, so as to provide support during the Covid-19 

lockdown and the next 3 to 6 months to vulnerable families who are on the SRM and the non-SRM list.

Some of the actions undertaken are:

• Distribution of food packs to support vulnerable families by NGOs
• Preparation of questionnaire, with support from KANTAR, to carry out survey of vulnerable families by NGOs
•  Prior to carrying out the survey, training has been provided to members of the participating NGOs to provide them guidance on the 

methodology of the survey
• The survey will provide insights on the challenges being faced by these families during and post lockdown.
• Recommendations will be submitted to the relevant authorities.
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STRATEGIC ORIENTATION
FOR 2020/21

Business Mauritius’ strategic orientation is based on the actions 
of our three teams namely, the National Economic Development, 
Social Capital and Sustainable and Inclusive Growth and internal 
operations. Here are the highlights of the future actions for year 
2020-2021.

COLLABORATIVE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

For this period, the economic department will be concentrating 
on the National Collaborative initiatives such as National Business 
Roadmap implementation, Africa Strategy, Innovation, Higher 
Education, Business Research Academia collaboration, National 
Productivity and Competitiveness, Fintech, Diaspora and talent 
retention, Freeport, Healthcare and real estate.

Also, on international economic cooperation, evidence-based 
advocacy such as building of an economic repository and data 
collection on COVID-19 impact, partnership with local economic 
units of BM members and Statistics Mauritius.

Other projects; improving linkages amongst BM members, 
particularly SME linkages to supply chains, innovation and investors, 
partnership with MEDEF, Delta-Cross project (collaboration with 
UDM), business innovation transformation and supporting inclusive 
development agenda. 

SOCIAL CAPITAL

The Social Capital department will be engaged in the National 
Apprenticeship Programme, an Espace des Métiers (BM in 
collaboration with MITD) where a Directory of “Métiers”, i.e., a 
list of competencies shall be made available to companies and 
individuals for project-driven purposes, Code of People Practices, 
MoU CIPD to upskill HR Professionals in Mauritius, Promoting Gender 
Mainstreaming and Equality at the workplace, Work From Home 
Readiness Programme in collaboration with HRDC and Reskilling 
Programme for Technically unemployed in collaboration with HRDC.

Furthermore, the National Skills Development Programme in 
collaboration with HRDC to better match skills with industry demand 
and create more job opportunities in ALL sectors, to cater for layoffs 
by encouraging the enrolment of those retrenched onto industry-
driven reskilling training programmes to ultimately secure a job. 
Thus, providing high-Level Seminars, Conferences & Workshops. 

IR SERVICES

The IR Services will be introducing new consultancy services to 
members with respect to Retrenchment and Disciplinary Hearings 
and provide guidelines on selected labour law topics.

SUSTAINABILITY AND INCLUSIVE GROWTH

The Sustainability and Inclusive Growth department will give 
emphasis to the Sustainability Pact (SigneNatir) project which 
consists of 5 key areas of priorities with 30 business actions. 
This initiative will be proposed to any type of businesses across 
sectors, from SMEs to large corporates for the development of a 
sustainable and inclusive Mauritius.
Simultaneously, other projects will be developed for Energy 
Transition, Circular Economy, Biodiversity and Climate Change, Cities 
and Communities, Inclusive Award 2021 and Regional Cooperation 
with La Réunion.

INTERNAL OPERATIONS

Business Mauritius will be digitalising its services via the various 
projects such as a procurement platform for members to showcase 
the product & services they offer (increase visibility on products 
and services), post invitation for tenders/bids, procure services, 
promote locally Manufactured Products, integration of SMEs into 
the supply chain of Large Companies. BM will encourage Large 
enterprises to procure from SMEs and establish a network of 
service providers.

Besides, Business Mauritius will provide support services to SMEs 
via an Online Cloud Tool. This online service will bring facilities in 
payroll, human resources and accounting activities with a minimum 
investment and create partnership with other service providers.

In addition, Business Mauritius will establish an Electronic Document 
Management System to receive, track, manage and store 
documents and reduce paper.
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AUDITORS’ REPORT

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements on pages 48 to 66 give a 
true and fair view of the financial position of Business Mauritius (the 
“Association”) as at 30 June 2020 and of its financial performance 
and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and comply 
with the requirements of the Registration of Associations Act 1978.

What We Have Audited

The financial statements of Business Mauritius set out on pages 
48 to 66 comprise:

 • the statement of comprehensive income for the year 
   then ended;
 • the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020;
 • the statement of changes of funds for the year then 
   ended;
 • the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; 
   and 
 •  the notes to the financial statements comprising significant 

accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities are further described in the 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Association in 
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA 
Code). We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the IESBA Code. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those in Charge of 
Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards and in compliance with the requirements of 
the Registration of Associations Act 1978. It is also responsible for 
such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, it is responsible for assessing 
the Association’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, 
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the management either intends 
to liquidate the Association or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Those in charge of governance are responsible for overseeing the 
Association’s financial reporting process.

TO THE MEMBERS OF BUSINESS MAURITIUS

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level 
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the 
audit. We also:

 •  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 •  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Association’s internal control. 

 •  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the management.

 •  Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s 
use of the going concern basis of accounting and based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Association’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Association to cease to continue as a 
going concern.

 •  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

We communicate with the management and with those in charge 
of governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.

AUDITORS’ REPORT

Kemp Chatteris
Chartered Accountants

04 September  2020

Martine Ip Min Wan, FCA
Licensed by FRC

Other matter

This report is made solely to the Association’s members, as a body, in accordance with the Registration of Associations Act 1978. Our 
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Association’s members, those matters we are required to state to them in 
an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the Association and the Association’s members, as a body, for audit work, for this report, or for the opinion we have formed.
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FINANCIAL POSITION

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2020

Notes 2020 2019

Rs Rs

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 7  37,082,208  36,904,509 

Intangible assets 8  1,227,925  460,126 

Other assets 11  10,000,000  -   

Total non-current assets  48,310,133  37,364,635 

Current assets

Receivables 9  4,765,027  3,835,033 

Defined benefit assets 12  -    42,000 

Other assets 11  19,755,900  10,000,000 

Receivables from PNEE  57,905  2,150,813 

Cash and cash equivalents

- own funds 10  9,284,780  32,428,244 

- project funds 10  2,154,774  4,516,007 

Total current assets  36,018,386  52,972,097 

Total assets  84,328,519  90,336,732 

ACCUMULATED FUND AND LIABILITIES

Accumulated fund

General fund  58,100,096  58,302,383 

Training fund  5,950,452  4,083,866 

Project fund  1,566,183  545,472 

Revaluation reserves 7  14,288,317  14,288,317 

Retirement benefit deficits 13  -    (1,086,800)

Total accumulated fund  79,905,048  76,133,238 

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Defined benefit obligations 12  -    3,042,000 

Payables 14  3,655,450  7,176,640 

Current tax liability 15  106,990  7,455 

Project funds  661,031  3,977,399 

Total current liabilities  4,423,471  14,203,494 

Total liabilities  4,423,471  14,203,494 

Total accumulated funds and liabilities  84,328,519  90,336,732 

Approved by the Presidenton the 04 Sept 2020 ............................................................

The notes on pages 52 to 66 form an integral part 
of these financial statements

Mr Canagasabhay Mooneegan
President

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

Notes 2020 2019

Rs Rs

INCOME

Subscription and entrance fees  31,720,511  32,323,794 

Management and marketing fees  3,569,013  2,771,292 

Training income  10,253,046  9,539,729 

Other receipts  34,871  1,051,147 

Total income  45,577,441  45,685,962 

EXPENDITURE

Salaries and payroll related costs 16  19,604,671  21,365,905 

Training expenses  3,033,479  3,950,108 

Professional and legal fees  3,632,328  3,856,166 

Outsourcing  fees  1,616,335  1,145,903 

Marketing and communication expenses  1,417,511  1,559,974 

Administrative expenses  6,314,971  6,987,881 

Depreciation and amortisation  2,364,908  2,176,208 

Provision for bad debts  2,279,306  509,271 

Amount receivable from PNEE written off  -    983,489 

Bad debts written off  95,551  457,310 

Covid-19 expenses 20  2,343,272  -   

Working group (commission strategique)  649,249  162,505 

Other activities  97,340  111,375 

Total expenditure  43,448,921  43,266,095 

Operating surplus  2,128,520  2,419,867

Finance costs 17  -    (46,947)

Finance income 18  901,587  684,615 

Surplus before tax  3,030,107  3,057,535 

Tax expense 15  (279,008)  (79,971)

SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR  2,751,099  2,977,564 

Other comprehensive income:

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Actuarial losses on defined benefit obligations 12  -    (667,000)

Gain on revaluation of property, plant and equipment  -    -   

Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss  -    -   

Other comprehensive (loss) for the year, net of tax  -    (667,000)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  2,751,099  2,310,564 

The notes on pages 52 to 66 form an integral part 
of these financial statements
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CHANGES IN FUNDS

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

Notes General 
fund Training fund Project                                                                                                                      

fund
Revaluation 

reserves

Retirement 
benefit 
deficits

Total

At 1 July 2019 58,302,383  4,083,866  545,472  14,288,317  (1,086,800)  76,133,238

Surplus for the year  884,513  1,866,586  1,020,711  -  -  3,771,810

Transfer to General Fund 12 (1,086,800)  -   -  -  1,086,800 -

Total comprehensive income for the year  (202,287)  1,866,586  1,020,711  -    1,086,800  3,771,810

As at 30 June 2020  58,100,096  5,950,452  1,566,183  14,288,317  -    79,905,048 

At 1 July 2018  56,790,025  2,618,660  (776,519)  14,288,317  (419,800)  72,500,683

Surplus for the year  1,512,358  1,465,206  1,321,991 - -  4,299,555

Other comprehensive loss - - - -  (667,000)  (667,000)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year  1,512,358  1,465,206  1,321,991 -  (667,000)  3,632,555

As at 30 June 2019  58,302,383  4,083,866  545,472  14,288,317  (1,086,800)  76,133,238

The notes on pages 52 to 66 form an integral part 
of these financial statements

CASH FLOWS

The notes on pages 52 to 66 form an integral part 
of these financial statements

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

Notes 2020 2019

Rs Rs

Cash flows from operating activities
Surplus/(deficit) for the year before tax
General Fund  1,163,521  1,592,329 
Training Fund  1,866,586  1,465,206 

 3,030,107  3,057,535 

Adjustments for:
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment  2,031,927  2,056,909 
Amortisation of intangible assets  332,981  119,299 
Interest income  (901,587)  (684,615)
Interest expense  -    46,947 
Retirement benefit obligations  -    164,000 
Provision for unpaid subscriptions  2,279,306  509,271 
Deferred CSR income utilised  -    - 
Amount receivable from PNEE written off  -    983,489 
Bad debts written off  95,551  457,310 
Gain on disposal of motor vehicle  -    (768,633)

Operating surplus before working capital changes  6,868,285  5,941,512 

Change in receivables  (3,304,851)  186,201 
Change in payables  (3,521,190)  (3,632,820)

Cash from operations  42,244  2,494,893 
Interest paid  -    (46,947)
Tax paid  (179,473)  (65,625)
Defined benefit obligations transferred  -    2,842,933 

Net cash from operations  (137,229)  5,225,254 

Cashflows from investing activities
Investment in Fixed Deposit  (10,000,000)  (10,000,000)
Investment in treasury bills  (9,755,900)  -   
Interest received  68,481  1,303,883 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (2,209,626)  (1,632,315)
Purchase of intangible assets  (1,100,780)  (362,250)
Proceeds from disposal of motor vehicle  -    1,658,000 

Net cash used in investing activities  (22,997,825)  (9,032,682)

Cashflows from financing activities
Finance lease principal repayments  -    (1,173,095)
Change in project funds  (2,369,643)  (918,537)

Net cash used in financing activities  (2,369,643)  (2,091,632)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents  (25,504,697)  (5,899,060)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year  36,944,251  42,843,311 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year  11,439,554  36,944,251

Cash and cash equivalents made up of:

General fund and Training fund  9,284,780  32,428,244

Project Funds:
National Energy Efficiency Programme  6,299  1,885,389 
Switch Africa Green Financing  319,482  11,357 
Regional Energy Efficiency Programme  581,542  237,278 
Sunref 3  1,247,451  2,381,983 

Cash in hand and at bank  11,439,554  36,944,251 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

1.  GENERAL INFORMATION  AND STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 
WITH INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(“IFRS”)

Business Mauritius, the “Association”, is a consultative, non-profit 
making organisation registered in the Republic of Mauritius under 
the former Registration of Associations Act 1949 on 23 March 1962. 

The Association changed its name from The Mauritius Employers’ 
Federation to Business Mauritius pursuant to a Certificate of 
Registration of Amendment issued by the Registrar of Associations 
on 01 October 2015.

Business Mauritius is governed by a National Council of 17 members 
representing the main sectors of the economy.

The registered office of the Association is BM-MCCI Building, Rue 
du Savoir, Ebene Cybercity, Ebene 72201, Republic of Mauritius.

Business Mauritius is an independent association that represents 
over 1200 local businesses. It stems from the Merger, in October 
2015, between the Mauritius Employers Federation and the Joint 
Economic Council.

The Association remains focused on 3 strategic goals:

 {   Engage business in national economic development

 {   Develop a strong social capital

 {   Promote sustainability and inclusive growth

To sustain and further promote these 3 strategic goals, the 
Association provides a range of support services to businesses.

The financial statements of the Association have been prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(“IASB”) and in accordance with the requirements of the Registration 
of Associations Act 1978.

2.  APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL 
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRSS)

In the current year, the Association has applied all of the new and 
revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the IFRS Interpretations 
Committee of the IASB that are relevant to its operations and 
effective for accounting years beginning on 1 July 2019.

(i)  New and revised standards applied which affect amounts 
reported and disclosed in the financial statements.

The following relevant new and revised IFRSs have been applied 
in these financial statements. The application of these new and 
revised IFRSs has not had any material impact on the amounts 
reported and/or disclosed for the current year but may affect 
the accounting for future transactions or arrangements.

IAS 12       Income Taxes – Amendments resulting from Annual 
Improvements 2015-2017 Cycle (income tax 
consequences of dividends)

IAS 19       Employee Benefits – Amendments regarding plan 
amendments, curtailments or settlements

IFRS 9      Financial Instruments- Amendments regarding 
prepayment features with negative compensation 
and modifications of financial liabilities

IFRS 16    Leases – Original issue

IFRIC 23  Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

(ii) New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the 
following relevant IFRSs were in issue but effective on annual 
periods beginning on or after the respective dates as indicated.

IAS 1          Presentation of Financial Statements - Amendments 
regarding the definition of material (effective 1 January 
2020)

IAS 1         Presentation of Financial Statements - Amended 
by Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 
(effective 1 January 2022)

IAS 8       Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates 
and Errors – Amendments regarding the definition of 
material (effective 1 January 2020)

IAS 16      Property, Plant and Equipment– Amended by Property, 
Plant and Equipment - Proceeds before Intended Use 
(effective 1 January 2022)

IAS 37     Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets– 
Amended by Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a 
Contract (effective 1 January 2022)

IFRS 7     Financial Instruments Disclosures – Interest Rate 
Benchmark Reform issued, requiring additional 
disclosures around uncertainty arising from the interest 
rate benchmark reform (effective 1 January 2020)

IFRS 9     Amendments regarding pre-replacement issues in the 
context of the IBOR reform (effective 1 January 2020)

IFRS 9       Financial Instruments – Amended by Annual 
Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018–2020 (effective 
1 January 2022)

IFRS 16    Leases – Amended by Annual Improvements to IFRS 
Standards 2018–2020 (effective 1 January 2022)

IFRS 16   Leases – Amended by Covid-19-Related Rent 
Concessions (effective 1 June 2020)

The National Council anticipates that these IFRSs will be applied 
on their effective dates in future years. The National Council has 
not yet had an opportunity to consider the potential impact of the 
application of these amendments.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial 
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently 
applied to all the years presented unless otherwise stated.

Basis of Accounting

The Association has adopted a fund-based accounting system 
emphasising on accountability. The Funds (Restricted and 
Unrestricted) maintained  by the Association are: (1) General 
Fund (2) Training Fund and (3) Projects Fund.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical 
cost basis, except for the revaluation of building.

The policies adopted are set out below.

(a) Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis.

(b) Revenue recognition

The main revenue streams are recognised as follows:

Operating revenue

{   Subscriptions are recognised in the year when they fall due.

{    Income from new admission fees are recognised in the relevant 
year of admission. 

{    Seminar and Training fees are recognised at the date of 
the seminar at the fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable.

{   Marketing fees are recognised on quarterly basis.

Investment income

Interest accrued is recognised on a daily basis.

Members’ subscriptions prepaid

Amounts received in advance are carried forward and included 
in liabilities as subscriptions prepaid.

(c) Expenditure recognition

Expenditure is recognised as follows:

{    Expenditure related to a specific revenue stream is recognised 
in the same period as the revenue.

{    Expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

(d) Foreign currency

Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Mauritian Rupees 
(“Rs”), which is also the functional currency of the Association.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the foreign 
currency, using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of 
the transactions (spot exchange rate).  Foreign exchange gains 
and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions 
and from the re-measurement of monetary items denominated 
in foreign currency at year-end exchange rates are recognised 
in the statement of comprehensive income.

(e) Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

At 30 June 2019, the Building on leasehold land was carried 
at fair value, based on valuation conducted by a professional 
independent property valuer in accordance with RICS – 
Professional Standards performed during the year 30 June 2018.

It is the policy of the Association to revalue the Building on 
leasehold land every 3 to 5 years.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight line method to write 
down the cost of assets to their residual values over their 
estimated useful lives as follows:

The estimated useful lives are reviewed at each reporting date.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing 
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are included 
in the statement of comprehensive income. All repairs and 
maintenance are expensed during the financial year in which 
they are incurred.

Motor vehicle under finance lease is depreciated over its 
expected useful life on the same basis as owned assets.

(e) Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

(f) Intangible assets

Expenditures incurred on computer software programs are 
recognised as intangible assets and are amortised over 4 years 
using the straight line method.

Building on leasehold land 2%

Improvements to Building on 
leasehold land  2%

Motor vehicles 20%

Furniture and fittings 10%

Computer equipment
and software 25%
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(g) Receivables

Receivables include mainly members’ subscriptions, seminar 
fees and marketing fees receivable.   Receivables are recognised 
initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost less an allowance for any irrecoverable amounts.  Allowance 
is made when there is objective evidence that the Association will 
not be able to recover balances in full.  Balances are written-off 
when the probability of recovery is assessed as being remote.

(h) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in 
hand, together with other short-term, highly liquid investments 
maturing within 90 days from date of acquisition that are readily 
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject 
to an insignificant risk of change in value.

(i) Financial instruments

Financial instruments carried on the statement of financial 
position are receivables, cash and cash equivalents, other assets, 
financial assets held at FVTOCI, borrowings and payables.  The 
particular recognition methods adopted are disclosed in the 
individual policy statements associated with each item.

(j) Leases

Finance leases

Depreciation method and useful life for asset held under 
finance lease agreement corresponds to those applied to 
comparable assets which are legally owned by the Association.  
The corresponding finance lease liability is reduced by lease 
payments less finance costs, which are expensed as part 
of finance costs. The interest element of lease payments 
represents a constant proportion of the outstanding capital 
balance and is charged to the statement of comprehensive 
income, as finance costs over the period of the lease.

Operating leases

All other leases are treated as operating leases. Where the 
Association is a lessee, payments on operating lease agreements 
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term. Associated costs, such as maintenance and 
insurance, are expensed as incurred.

(k) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Association has a present 
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events and 
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to 
settle the obligation and the amount can be estimated reliably. 
Timing or amount of the out flow may still be uncertain.

(l) Accumulated funds

Accumulated funds include all current and prior years’ results.

(m) Projects’ fund

The projects’ fund is initially recognised as a liability on receipt 
and subsequently reduced by amounts disbursed in relation to 
the intended use of these funds.

(n) Payables

Payables include mainly accruals and subscription fees received 
in advance.  Trade and other payables are not interest bearing 
and are stated at fair value.

(o) Related parties

Related parties are individuals, including management personnel, 
where the individual has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control 
the other party, or exercise significant influence over the party 
in making financial and operational decisions.

(p) Post-employment benefits

The Association provides post-employment benefits through 
a defined contribution plan.

(q) Financial assets held at FVTOCI

On initial recognition, the Association may make an irrevocable 
election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate 
investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation 
at FVTOCI is not permitted if the equity investment is held for 
trading.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

{    it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it 
in the near term; or

{    on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified 
financial instruments that the Association manages together 
and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term 
profit-taking; or

{    it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial 
guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging 
instrument).

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially 
measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, 
they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from 
changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve. The 
cumulative gain or loss has not been reclassified to profit or loss 
on disposal of the equity investments, instead, it is transferred 
to accumulated fund.

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are 
recognised in profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9, unless 
the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of 
the investment. The Association has designated all investments 
in equity that are not held for trading as at FVTOCI on initial 
application of IFRS 9.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(r) Income taxes

Tax expense recognised in profit and loss comprises the sum of deferred tax, CSR (Corporate Social Responsibility) and current tax 
not recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to the current or 
prior reporting years, that  are unpaid  at the reporting date. Current tax is payable on taxable profit, which differs from profit or loss  
in the financial statements. Calculation of current tax is based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting year.

Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities and their tax bases.

The Association is subject to CSR and the contribution is at the rate of 2% on the chargeable income of the preceding year. Effective 
1 January 2019, the contribution to the Mauritius Revenue Authority must be at least 75%. The remaining 25% of the CSR can be 
used by the Association in accordance with its own CSR fund.

(s) Comparative figures

Comparative figures have been regrouped and/or restated where necessary to conform with the current year’s presentation.

(t) Purchase of small value assets

Small assets of value less than Rs 10,000 are “expensed” in the statement of comprehensive income.

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISK

Risk management objectives and policies

The Association’s financial instruments comprise mostly receivables, cash and cash equivalents and payables. The Association is therefore 
exposed to various risks in relation to financial instruments such as credit risk, market rate risk and liquidity risk.

The Association’s risks are managed at the level of the National Council.

The Association’s financial assets and financial liabilities by category are summarised below.

2020 2019

Financial assets Rs Rs

Non current assets

Other assets  10,000,000  -  

Current assets
Receivables*  4,074,717  5,237,541 

Cash and cash equivalents**  9,284,780  32,428,244 

Other assets  19,755,900  10,000,000 
Total current assets  33,115,397  47,665,785 

Total financial assets  43,115,397  47,665,785

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:

Payables***  3,048,771  1,503,386 
Total financial liabilities  3,048,771  1,503,386 

*    Receivables are exclusive of prepayments and advance payments.

**   Cash and cash equivalents are exclusive of project funds.

***  Payables are exclusive of subscription and seminar fees received in advance and deferred subscription income.
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISK (CONT’D)

4.1 MARKET RISK ANALYSIS

Foreign currency sensitivity

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments denominated in foreign currencies will 
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Association does not have any financial assets and financial liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies. Consequently, the Association is not exposed to any foreign currency risk.

Interest rate risk

The Association is exposed to interest rate risk as it receives interest on its interest bearing assets and pays interest on finance lease 
at floating market rates. However, the effect of a change in market interest rates would have a marginal impact on the operating cash 
flows and surpluses.

4.2 CREDIT RISK ANALYSIS

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty fails to discharge an obligation to the Association. The Association’s maximum exposure to 
credit risk is limited to the carrying amount of financial assets recognised at the reporting date, as summarised below:

The Association continuously monitors default of its members and other counterparts and incorporate this information into its credit 
risk controls.

Based on the historical information about default rates, the management considers that the possibility of material loss arising in the 
event of non-performing members and other counterparts is mitigated. The Association’s credit policy is to assess all subscription fees 
due for more than 365 days and provisions are made in case recoverability is doubtful.

The credit risk for the cash and cash equivalents and fixed deposits are considered negligible, since the counterparties are reputable 
financial institutions with high quality external credit ratings.

No financial assets are pledged as collateral.

It is not foreseen to have credit loss based on the loss allowance model.

2020 2019

Rs Rs

Non-current assets
Other assets  10,000,000  -   

Total non-current assets  10,000,000  -   

Current assets
Receivables  4,074,717  5,237,541 

Cash and cash equivalents  9,284,780  32,428,244 

Other assets  19,755,900  10,000,000 

Total current assets  33,115,397  47,665,785 

Total financial assets  43,115,397  47,665,785 

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISK (CONT’D)

4.3 LIQUIDITY RISK ANALYSIS

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Association will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Association’s approach 
to managing liquidity risk is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under 
both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Association’s reputation.

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the management who also monitors the Association’s short, medium 
and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Association manages liquidity risk by ensuring timely recovery of 
receivables.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities:

5. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

5.1 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Association’s financial instruments are measured at their carrying amounts, which approximate their fair  values.

5.2 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following table shows the levels within the hierarchy of non- financial assets measured at fair value.

Carrying 
amount

Contractual
cash flows

Less than
 1 year

 More than 
 1 year

Rs Rs Rs Rs

2020

Payables  3,048,771  3,048,771  3,048,771  -   

Total  3,048,771  3,048,771  3,048,771  -   

Carrying 
amount

Contractual
cash flows

Less than
 1 year

 More than 
 1 year

Rs Rs Rs Rs

2019

 1,503,386  1,503,386  1,503,386  -   

Payables  1,503,386  1,503,386  1,503,386  -   

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

30 June 2020 Rs Rs Rs RS

Property, plant and equipment

Building on leasehold land  -   -   32,941,110  32,941,110

30 June 2019

Property, plant and equipment

Building on leasehold land - -  34,896,103  34,896,103

Fair value of the Association’s building on leasehold land (including improvement to building on leasehold land) was estimated at 30 June 
2018 based on appraisals performed by an independent qualified property valuer. The significant inputs and assumptions were developed 
in close consultations with management.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

5. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (CONT’D)

5.2  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

Building on leasehold land (Level 3)

The building and leasehold land were revalued at 30 June 2018 
by Aestima Ltd, an independent qualified property valuer, at 
Rs 77.5 million.

The building is capitalised in accordance with IAS 16, “Property, 
Plant and Equipment” and the land is treated as an operating 
lease in accordance with IAS 17, “Leases”.

The building’s fair value stood at Rs 33M (area owned by the 
Association of Rs 28.5M and shared area of Rs 4.5M) which resulted 
in a revaluation surplus of Rs 14,288,317 at 30 June 2018.

The appraisal was carried out using a market approach that 
reflects observed prices for recent market transactions for similar 
properties and incorporates adjustments for factors specific to the 
property in question, including plot size, location, encumbrances 
and current use.

In June 2019, la Société de la Chambre et de la Fédération 
commissioned BROLL INDIAN OCEAN to conduct an independent 
valuation of the property situated at Ebene, Cybercity.

The property was valued at Rs 124,900,000, as follows:
 
 Land  - Rs 58,200,000
 Building - Rs 66,700,000

La Société de la Chambre et de la Fédération is owned jointly by 
Business Mauritius and MCCI.

Regarding the value of the Land under lease, the Association will 
apply the new IFRS 16 once a sublease agreement be finalised 
jointly between the Association - MCCI and la Société de la Chambre 
et de la Fédération.

The significant unobservable input is the adjustment for factors 
specific to the property in question. The extent and direction of 
this adjustment depends on the number and characteristics of 
the observable market transactions in similar properties that 
are used as the starting point for valuation. Although this input is 
a subjective judgement, management considers that the overall 
valuation would not be materially affected by reasonably possible 
alternative assumptions and that the carrying value of the building 
is a reflection of its fair value at the reporting date.

The Association’s other non-financial assets are measured at their 
carrying amount, which approximates their fair values.

6.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND MANAGEMENT 
JUDGEMENTS

When preparing the financial statements, management undertakes 
a number of judgements, estimates and assumptions about 
recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses.

Information about estimates and assumptions that have the most 
significant effect on recognition and measurement of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses is provided below.  Actual results 
may differ from these estimates.

Useful lives and residual values of intangible assets and plant 
and equipment

The Association reviews its estimate of the useful lives of its 
intangible assets, plant and equipment at each reporting date, 
based on the expected utility of the assets.

Provision for unpaid subscriptions

The Association reviews the adequacy of provision for unpaid 
subscriptions at each reporting date.  Allowance is made when 
there is objective evidence that the Association will not be able 
to recover balances in full.  Balances are written-off when the 
probability of recovery is assessed as being remote.

Property valuation

The Association obtained a valuation in June 2018 by a 
professional independent property valuer of the leasehold 
property at BM-MCCI Building, Rue du Savoir, Ebene Cybercity. 
The valuation was in accordance with RICS – Professional 
Standards on the basis of market value.

Business model assessment

Classification and measurement of financial assets depends 
on the results of the SPPI and the business model test. The 
association determines the business model at a level that 
reflects how groups of financial assets are managed together to 
achieve a particular business objective. This assessment includes 
judgement reflecting all relevant evidence including how the 
performance of the assets is evaluated and their performance 
measured, the risks that affect the performance of the assets 
and how these are managed and how the management of the 
assets are compensated. The association monitors financial 
assets measured at amortised cost or fair value through other 
comprehensive income that are derecognised prior to their 
maturity to understand the reason for their disposal and whether 
the reasons are consistent with the objective of the business for 
which the asset was held. Monitoring is part of the association’s 
continuous assessment of whether the business model for 
which the remaining financial assets are held continues to be 
appropriate and if it is not appropriate whether there has been 
a change in business model and so a prospective change to the 
classification of those assets. No such changes were required 
during the periods presented.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

 Building on 
leasehold land 

 Improvement 
to building on 
leasehold land 

 Furniture
and fittings

Computer 
equipment

Motor
vehicles Total

 Rs  Rs  Rs  Rs  Rs  Rs

Cost

At 1 July 2019  31,560,803  2,556,794  7,622,791  9,131,859  1,920,500  52,792,747 

Additions  -    -    87,040  1,022,587  1,100,000  2,209,627 

Disposals  -    -    -    -    -    -   
At 30 June 2020  31,560,803  2,556,794  7,709,831  10,154,446  3,020,500  55,002,374 

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 July 2019  631,216  157,147  6,529,300  7,930,404  640,171  15,888,238 

Charge for the year  631,216  91,782  195,975  664,688  448,267  2,031,928 

Disposals  -   -   - -   -  -   
At 30 June 2020  1,262,432  248,929  6,725,275  8,595,092  1,088,438  17,920,166 

Carrying amount

At 30 June 2020  30,298,371  2,307,865  984,556  1,559,354  1,932,062  37,082,208 

The net book value of motor vehicle held under finance lease is Nil at 30 June 2020.

 Building on 
leasehold land 

 Improvement 
to building on 
leasehold land 

 Furniture
and fittings

Computer 
equipment

Motor
vehicles Total

 Rs  Rs  Rs  Rs  Rs  Rs

Cost

At 1 July 2019  31,560,803  1,947,270  7,404,036  8,327,823  5,434,466  54,674,398 

Additions  -    609,524  218,755  804,036  -    1,632,315 

Disposals  -    -    -    -    (3,513,966)  (3,513,966)

At 30 June 2020  31,560,803  2,556,794  7,622,791  9,131,859  1,920,500  52,792,747 

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 July 2019  -    71,585  6,346,880  7,362,031  2,675,432  16,455,928 

Charge for the year  631,216  85,562  182,420  568,373  589,338  2,056,909 

Disposals  -    -    -    -    (2,624,599)  (2,624,599)

At 30 June 2020  631,216  157,147  6,529,300  7,930,404  640,171  15,888,238 

Carrying amount

At 30 June 2020  30,929,587  2,399,647  1,093,491  1,201,455  1,280,329  36,904,509 

The net book value of motor vehicle held under finance lease is Nil at 30 June 2019.

On 30 June 2018, an independent valuation of the Association’s building on leasehold land (including improvement to building on leasehold 
land) was undertaken by Aestima Ltd, a member of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors to determine the fair value of the 
building. The valuation was made on the basis of the market value for existing use. The carrying value of the building was adjusted to 
the revalued amount and the resultant surplus was credited to revaluation reserves in other comprehensive income.
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8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

9. RECEIVABLES

Software and licences

2020 2019

Rs Rs

Cost 
At 1 July  876,860  514,610 

Additions during the year  1,100,780  362,250 

As at 30 June  1,977,640  876,860 

Amortisation
At 1 July  416,734  297,435 

Charge for the year  332,981  119,299 

As at 30 June  749,715  416,734 

Carrying amount as at 30 June  1,227,925  460,126 

2020 2019

Rs Rs

Subscriptions and seminar fees, gross 3,686,390  2,487,270 

Provision for bad debts  (2,279,306)  (509,271)

Subscriptions and seminar fees, net  1,407,084  1,977,999 

Other receivables  2,667,633  1,126,961 

Prepayments  690,310  730,073 

 4,765,027  3,835,033 

(i)       Subscription and seminar fees receivable (net of allowances) held by the Association at 30 June 2020 amounted to Rs 1,420,584(2019: 
Rs 1,977,999).

(ii)     The amount of provision for bad debts as per the Association’s policy was Rs 717,179 for the year 30 June 2020 (2019: Rs 509,271). 
Impaired receivables  mainly relate to subscriptions due from members. Due to COVID 19 pandemic, the Association has made 
additional provision amounting to Rs 1,562,127 on subscription and seminar fees due for the financial year 2019/2020. The movements 
in provision for bad debts are presented below:

2020 2019

Rs Rs

As at 1 July  509,271  1,670,389 

Increase in provision for unpaid subscriptions  2,279,306  509,271 

Provision for unpaid subscriptions utilised  (509,271)  (1,670,389)

As at 30 June  2,279,306  509,271 

(iii)       As at 30 June 2020, subscriptions and seminar fees receivable past due but not impaired  amounted to Rs 1,407,084 (2019: 
Rs 1,977,999). The ageing of these receivables is as follows:

2020 2019

Rs Rs

Less than one year  2,279,306  509,271 

(iv)       It is not foreseen to have credit loss based on the loss allowance model.
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10. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

11. OTHER ASSETS

2020 2019

Rs Rs

Own funds:

Cash at bank and in hand:

General Fund and Training Fund  9,284,780  32,428,244 

Project funds:

National Energy Efficiency Programme (Note 13)  6,299  1,885,389 

Switch Africa Green Financing  319,482  11,357 

Regional Energy Efficiency Programme (Note 13)  581,542  237,278 

Sunref 3  1,247,451  2,381,983 

Total project funds  2,154,774  4,516,007 

Total  11,439,554  36,944,251

2020 2019

Rs Rs

Non current assets
Fixed deposits and bonds  10,000,000  -   

Current assets
Fixed deposits and bonds  19,755,900  10,000,000 

Other assets relate to fixed deposit placed with La Prudence Leasing, Rogers Capital and Treasury Bills with maturity dates more than 90 
days from date of origination. Fixed deposit maturing within the next twelve months have been recognised under current assets.

2020 2019

Rs Rs

Defined benefit assets  -    42,000 

Defined benefit obligations  -    (3,042,000)

12. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

Defined Contribution Plan

The Association’s financial instruments are measured at their carrying amounts, which approximate their fair  values.

Defined Benefit Plan

During the year, the remaining employee under Defined Benefit plan was transferred to the Association’s existing Defined Contribution 
Plan. The estimated reserve required for the above has been provided for in the 2019 Financial Statements.
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12. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONT’D)

2020 2019

Rs Rs

Movement in retirement benefit deficits

As at 1 July  (1,086,800)  (419,800)

Movement during the year  -    (667,000)

Transfer to general fund  1,086,800  -   

As at 30 June  -    (1,086,800)

13. PROJECT FUNDS

National Energy Efficiency Programme  (PNEE)

The National Energy Efficiency Programme (“Programme National d’Efficacite Energetique” or “PNEE Programme”) was launched in 
March 2014 as a common initiative of the Ministry of Energy and Public Utilities, the Joint Economic Council (“JEC”) and the Agence 
Francaise de Developpement (“AFD”).

The Association took ownership to manage the PNEE Programme following the integration and combination of JEC with Business 
Mauritius during the period ended 30 June 2016.  The Programme ended on 31 December 2017.

The PNEE Programme was part-financed to the amount of EUR 70,000 by the AFD and European Union (“EU”), and part-financed by 
private local enterprises in Mauritius.  The financing from AFD and EU was in accordance with a “Convention de partenariat strategique 
et financier” signed by AFD and JEC on 23 December 2014.

2020 2019

Ex-JEC 
Pension plan

Ex-MEF 
Pension plan Total

Ex-MEF 
and Ex-JEC 

pension plans

Rs Rs Rs Rs

At 1 July  (3,042,000)  42,000  (3,000,000) 673,933 

Total expenses  -    -    -    (164,000)

Employer contribution  3,139,800  -    3,139,800  -   

Refund  -    -    -    (2,842,933)

Transfer to Profit and Loss  (97,800)  (42,000)  (139,800)  -   

Actuarial losses recognised in OCI - - -  (667,000)

As at 30 June - - -  (3,000,000)

During the year, the remaining employee who was entitled to retirement gratuities as at 30 June 2019 has been transferred to the 
Association’s defined contribution scheme.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13. PROJECT FUNDS (CONT’D)

National Energy Efficiency Programme  (PNEE) (cont’d)

The main objective of the Programme was to improve energy efficiency in the private sector.  The Programme comprised of three 
stages as follows:

 (i) Energy audit;
 (ii) Training; and
 (iii) Dissemination information.

At 31 December 2017, the PNEE Programme had secured 88 energy audit contracts with various local enterprises. The financial details 
of the Programme are given in Appendix 3 of these financial statements.

Switch Africa Green Financing

The Association received funds to finance the third stage of the PNEE Programme.  These funds emanate from Switch Africa Green, 
a United Nations Project funded under the United Nations Environment Programme (“UNEP”). UNEP is an EU funded programme, 
implemented by the United Nations Development Programme (“UNDP”) and United Nations Office for Project Services (“UNOPS”).

The objective of Switch Africa Green is to foster African countries in their transition to an inclusive green economy.  These funds will be 
utilised for financing technical consultancy assistance in the implementation phase of the PNEE Programme.

The financial details of funds from Switch Africa Green are given in Appendix 4.

Regional Energy Efficiency Programme (PREE)

On 22 August 2017, the Indian Ocean Commission (IOC) and the Association signed a Partnership Agreement to implement the 
Programme Regionale d’Efficacite Energetique (PREE) developed under the IOC-ENERGIES Programme and funded by European Union.

The expected results are mainly:

 (i) The sharing of experience and methodology from PNEE in Mauritius;
 (ii) Enhance regional private sector dialogue; and

There is a dedicated PREE contract signed for 12 months(2017/2018) to the amount of EUR 20,000  funded by the IOC for the services 
of Business Mauritius.

The financial details of the PREE Programme are given in Appendix 5.

Sustainable Use of Natural Resources and Energy Finance Programme (SUNREF)

The Sustainable Use of Natural Resources and Energy Finance Programme (SUNREF) established by the Agence Française de 
Développement (AFD) provides solutions for the new energy and environmental transition by helping private actors in the South to 
seize its opportunities and encouraging local financial institutions to finance it. The Financing Agreement between AFD and Business 
Mauritius was signed on 12th March 2018.

SUNREF 3 Mauritius was put in place by AFD with two partner banks (the MCB and SBM) on 11 September 2018.

SUNREF 3 aims to assist Mauritius into implementing its National Defined Contributions (NDCs) as provided in its agreement to the 
Paris Climate agreement. It adopts an innovative trendsetting approach with the objectives of financing climate attenuation and climate 
adaptation projects as well as gender equality projects which is an additional step to the green investment project.
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13. PROJECT FUNDS (CONT’D)

Sustainable Use of Natural Resources and Energy Finance Programme (SUNREF) (cont’d)

The SUNREF 3 Program Facility has three components:

 (i)  A credit line of EUR 75 M (concessional loan granted by AFD to the PBs): MCB and SBM with an investment grant of 
5% to eligible project bearers upon verification of the investment completion and performances + 1% if auto-diagnosis 
on gender activities and action plan are adopted.

 (ii)  A Grant of EUR 3.75 M funded by AITF which will be used to provide an additional investment grant of 10% for eligible 
climate adaptation or an additional investment grant of 5% for gender-related projects providing a favourable 
environment for gender equality,

 (iii)  A Technical Assistance (TA) financed by the AITF. The TA is provided by Business Mauritius (BM) with the support 
and expertise of the AETS/ ARTELIA consortium through a contract signed in November 2018.

The financial details of the SUNREF Programme are given in Appendix 6.

14. PAYABLES

15. TAXATION

15.1 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Association is liable to income tax at the rate of 15% on investment income and training provided to non-members.  At 30 
June 2020, it had an income tax liability of Rs50,633  (2019: income tax liability of Rs 7,455). The income tax liability is calculated 
according to the tax rate applicable to the fiscal year to which it relates, based on the taxable income for the year.

The Association is subject to the Advance Payment Scheme (“APS”) whereby it is required to submit an APS statement and pay 
tax quarterly.

The Association is also subject to the Corporate Social Responsibility (“CSR”) Fund and the contribution is at a rate of 2% on the 
chargeable income of the preceding financial year.

15.2 STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2020 2019

Rs Rs

Subscription fees received in advance  358,505  5,351,178 

Accrued expenses  3,296,945  1,503,386 

Deferred seminar income  -    322,076 

 3,655,450  7,176,640 

2020 2019

Rs Rs

Income tax on the taxable income  198,117  75,550 

CSR contribution  17,566  12,491 

Underprovision in respect of prior years  63,325  (8,070)

Tax expense  279,008  79,971 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. TAXATION (CONT’D)

15.3 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

16. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

17. FINANCE CHARGES

18. FINANCE INCOME

2020 2019

Current tax (liability)/asset Rs Rs

As at 1 July  (7,455)  6,891 

Tax paid/(refund) during the year  70,780  (7,536)
Income tax on the taxable income  (198,117)  (75,550)
Underprovision in respect of prior years  (63,325)  8,070 

CSR payable  (17,566)  (12,491)

Tax paid under APS  108,693  73,161 

As at 30 June  (106,990)  (7,455)

2020 2019

Current tax (liability)/asset Rs Rs

As at 1 July  (7,455)  6,891 

Tax paid/(refund) during the year  70,780  (7,536)
Income tax on the taxable income  (198,117)  (75,550)
Underprovision in respect of prior years  (63,325)  8,070 

CSR payable  (17,566)  (12,491)

Tax paid under APS  108,693  73,161 

As at 30 June  (106,990)  (7,455)

2020 2019

Rs Rs

Interest payable on finance lease  -    46,947 

2020 2019

Rs Rs

Interest income  901,857  684,615 

Finance income comprises interest accrued on fixed deposits, treasury bills and notes  held by the Association.
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19. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Association had transactions with related parties.  The nature,  transactions and balances 
with the related parties were as follows:

20. COVID - 19 EXPENSES

The coronavirus panndemic (COVID 19) has caused extensive disruptions to the economies and businesses worldwide.

Management is of the opinion that it is difficult to forecast and quantify the overall outcome and impact of COVID-19 on the financial 
statements of the Association at this stage but does not expect any going concern issue.

During the year ended 30 June 2020, following the Covid19 outbreak, the Association incurred additional expenses which were 
unexpected as follows:

21. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

There are no events after the reporting period which may have a material effect on the financial statements as at 30 June 2020.

Name of related parties Nature of 
relationship

 Improvement 
to building on 
leasehold land 

Volume of 
transactions 

2020

Volume of 
transactions 

2019

Balances at 
30 June 20

Balances at 
30 June 2019

 Rs Rs  Rs  Rs

BM CSR Fund Ltd
Related through 
National Council 
members

Administrative 
fees 62,232  13,134  13,135  75,367 

Business Mauritius Provident Association
Related through 
National Council 
members

Marketing fees  48,795  111,693  601,838  553,043 

Super Fund
Related through 
National Council 
members

Marketing fees 156,824  153,004  318,000  161,176 

BM CSR Fund Ltd
Related through 
National Council 
members

Training 
programme on 
CSR

 -    1,129,860  -    -   

Compensation to key management personne

An amount of Rs 6,845,939 has been paid to key management personnel during the year ended 30 June 2020 (2019: Rs 6,322,131).

2020 2019

Rs Rs

Professional Fees  1,409,000  -   

Advertising  287,500  -   

PR Services  646,772  -   

 2,343,272  -   

GENERAL FUND
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 30 June 2020

APPENDIX 1

2020 2019

Rs Rs

INCOME

Subscriptions and entrance fees  31,720,511  32,323,794 

Management and marketing fees  3,569,013  2,771,292 

Other income  888  807,005 

 35,290,413  35,902,091 

EXPENDITURE

Salaries and payroll related costs  17,945,594  19,976,578 

Professional and legal fees  3,157,529  3,430,824 

Outsourcing fees  1,099,203  772,142 

Marketing and communication expenses  1,313,311  1,374,847 

Administrative expenses  6,437,124  7,169,089 

Covid-19 related expenses  2,343,272  -   

Provision and bad debts written off  1,985,857  966,581 

Amount receivable from PNEE written off  -    983,489 

Working group (commission strategique)  649,249  162,505 

Other activities  97,340  111,375 

 35,028,479  34,947,430 

Operating surplus before finance income  261,934  954,661 

Finance costs  -    (46,947)

Finance income  901,587  684,615 

Surplus before tax  1,163,521  1,592,329 

Tax expense  (279,008)  (79,971)

Surplus for the year  884,513  1,512,358 

Other comprehensive loss:

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Actuarial losses on defined benefit obligations  -    (667,000)

Gain on revaluation of building  -    -   

Items that will be classified subsequently to profit or loss  -    -   

Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax  -    (667,000)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  884,513  845,358 
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APPENDIX 2

TRAINING FUND
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 30 June 2020

2020 2019

Rs Rs

INCOME

Training income  10,253,046  9,539,729 

Other income  33,983  244,142 

 10,287,029  9,783,871 

EXPENDITURE

Salaries and payroll related costs  1,659,077  1,389,327 

Training expenses  3,033,479  3,950,108 

Professional and legal fees  474,799  425,342 

Outsourcing fees  517,133  373,761 

Marketing and communication expenses  104,200  185,127 

Provision for bad debts  389,000  -   

Administrative expenses  2,242,755  1,995,000 

 8,420,443  8,318,665 

Operating surplus before finance income  1,866,586  1,465,206 

Finance income  -    -   

Surplus before tax  1,866,586  1,465,206 

Tax expense  -    -   

Surplus for the year  1,866,586  1,465,206 

Other comprehensive income:

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Gain on revaluation of building  -    -   

Items that will be classified subsequently to profit or loss  -    -   

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  -    (667,000)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  1,866,586  1,465,206 

NATIONAL ENERGY EFFICIENCY 
PROGRAMME (PNEE)
STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND PAYMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2020

APPENDIX 3

2020 2019

Rs Rs

Opening balance  1,885,389  1,511,396 

Receipts

Local enterprises  -    1,733,350 

Switch Africa  949,805  -   

Others - HRDC  -    2,791,400 

Total receipts  949,805  4,524,750 

Payments

Payment to consultants  (705,192)  (3,035,253)

Payment made for Sunref 3  (157,872)  -   

Payment made for Switch Africa  -    (949,805)

Refund to AFD - Sunref 2  -    (152,724)

Loss on exchange  (109)  (1,720)

Refund to BM  (1,960,000)  -   

Bank charges  (5,722)  (11,255)

Total payments  (2,828,895)  (4,150,757)

Net (payments)/receipts  (1,879,090)  373,993 

Cash held at end of year (note 10)  6,299  1,885,389 
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APPENDIX 4

SWITCH AFRICA GREEN FINANCING
STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND PAYMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2020

2020 2019

Rs Rs

Opening balance  11,357  642,058 

Receipts

Receipts from sponsor  1,219,872  1,740,000 

Interest received  -    1,170 

Total receipts  1,219,872  1,741,170 

Payments

Payment to consultants  (1,041,575)  (2,313,467)

Bank charges  (1,862)  (5,075)

Total payments  (1,043,437)  (2,318,542)

Net receipts/(payments)  176,435  (577,372)

Gain/(loss) on retranslation  131,691  (53,329)

Cash held at end of year (note 10)  319,483  11,357 

APPENDIX 5

REGIONAL ENERGY EFFICIENCY 
PROGRAMME (PREE)
STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND PAYMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2020

2020 2019

Rs Rs

Opening balance  237,278  153,652 

Receipts

Receipts from sponsor  478,680  614,960 

Total receipts  478,680  614,960 

Payments

Overseas missions  (183,869)  (539,380)

Bank charges  (2,668)  (2,427)

Total payments  (186,537)  (541,807)

Net receipts  292,143  73,153 

Gain on retranslation  52,121  10,473 

Cash held at end of year (note 10)  581,542  237,278 
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APPENDIX 6

NATIONAL ENERGY EFFICIENCY 
PROGRAMME (PNEE) - SUNREF 3
STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND PAYMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2020

2020 2019

Rs Rs

Opening balance  2,381,983  -   

Receipts

Receipts from sponsor  2,482,200  2,301,000 

Total receipts  2,482,200  2,301,000 

Payments

Payments to consultants  (3,804,633)  -   

Bank charges  (1,917)  (1,190)

Total payments  (3,806,550)  (1,190)

Net receipts  (1,324,350)  2,299,810 

Gain on retranslation  189,818  82,173 

Cash held at end of year (note 10)  1,247,451  2,381,983 
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BM-MCCI Building, Rue du Savoir, 
Ebène, CyberCity, Ebène - 72201  

T: +230 466 3600 | F: +230 465 8200 
info@businessmauritius.org

www.businessmauritius.org


